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KEY FIGURES

 H1 2007 H1 2006 Change

Worldwide Group sales million vehicles 1.27 1.32 - 3.7%

Group revenues € million 20,562 20,856 (1) - 1.4%

Operating margin € million 722 592 + 22%

 % revenues 3.5 2.8 (2)  

Contribution of associated companies € million  837 1,212  - 30.9%

o/w Nissan   615 1,013 - 

o/w AB Volvo   181 202 - 

Net income € million  1,317 1,659  - 20.6%

Net income Renault share € million 1,281  1,627 - 21.3%

Earnings per share euros 4.96 6.34 - 

Net financial debt, Automobile € million 1,553 2,414 - 35.7%

   at 31/12/06  

Debt-to-equity % 7.2 11.4  - 4.2 points

Loans outstanding, Sales Financing € billion 22.6 23.2 - 2.6%

(1)  The changes in accounting methods chiefly concern operations related to contracts with subcontractors and sales of parts under warranty 
to customers, previously recorded as revenue.

(2)  The ratio of 2.7% reported for 2006 has been restated 0.1 points (seen at the same level in 2007) higher, reflecting the impact of changes 
in accounting methods on revenues. 

OVERVIEW

Worldwide sales for the Renault group in first half 2007 declined �.7% (49,�00 vehicles), reflecting 

contrasting performances: 

•  In the France and Europe Regions (�), sales contracted 9.�%, despite a strong performance from Dacia 

(+ 42.0%), pending the renewal of the range from second half 2007 onwards. The Renault brand ranks 

third in the passenger car and light commercial vehicle market, with an 8.5% share, and maintains its 

No. � place for light commercial vehicles, with market share of �4.2%;

•  Outside Europe, in the Euromed, Americas and Asia-Africa Regions, sales rose �0.2%, driven mainly 

by the Renault brand (up �8.0%), while Dacia and Renault Samsung were down �.7% and 2.0%, 

respectively. International sales continued to grow as a proportion of total Group sales, reaching ��.6% 

compared with 27.6% in first half 2006.

Group revenues totaled €20,562 million, down �.4% year-on-year on a consistent basis.

*  In this report, the term “Region” refers to the geographical zones chosen by Renault for its new organization. For the list of countries in each Region, 
see page 21 of this document.
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Operating margin reached €722 million, or �.5% of revenues in first half 2007, versus €592 million,  

or 2.8%(�) of revenues in first half 2006 on a consistent basis.

Automobile contributed €455 million to operating margin, equivalent to 2.�% of its revenues compared 

with �.6% in first half 2006. The increase is chiefly attributable to ongoing international growth and to 

cost control, particularly in purchasing (despite a rise in raw materials prices), manufacturing and G&A.

The operating margin contribution of Sales Financing (RCI Banque) was €267 million, or 26.8% of its 

revenues (compared with €269 million and 27.�% in first half 2006). 

Renault booked a profit of €8�7 million from its share in the net income of associated companies  

- mainly Nissan and AB Volvo - and reported net income of €�,��7 million.

The net financial debt of Automobile at June �0, 2007 was €�,55� million, down €86� million, 

compared with €2,4�4 million at December ��, 2006. The debt-to-equity ratio at end June 2007 was 

7.2% (compared with ��.5% restated at December ��, 2006).

Automobile generated €�,��9 million in free cash flow (2) in first half 2007.

OUTLOOK

•  Renault is forging ahead with the implementation of Renault Commitment 2009 by rolling out its 

product offensive with Twingo, which continues its European launch program, and Laguna, which 

epitomizes the Plan and will come to market in October 2007.

•  Outside Europe, strong sales growth will continue on the back of the momentum achieved by Logan, 

combined with the success of the Renault models launched in Mercosur and the good performance 

of Renault Samsung Motors.

Renault is confirming its operating margin guidance of �% for 2007.

REGULATORY DISCLOSURE

No risks and contingencies other than those discussed in Chapter 2.� of the registration document filed 

on �� March 2007 are expected during the remaining six months of the financial year.

There are no related party transactions other than those discussed in Chapter 4.�.�.2 of the registration 

document.

(1)  The ratio of 2.7% reported for 2006 has been restated 0.1 points (seen at the same level in 2007) higher, reflecting the impact of changes 
in accounting methods on revenues.

(2)  Free cash flow: self-financing capacity less property, plant, equipment and intangibles net of sales, including the variation in working 
capital requirements.
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PERSOn RESPOnSIbLE FOR ThE DOCUmEnT

Mr. Carlos Ghosn, President and Chief Executive Officer, accepts full responsibility  

for this Earnings Report.

I hereby declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared under 

generally accepted accounting principles and give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, 

financial situation and results of all the companies within the consolidated Renault group. I further 

declare that the Earnings Report gives a faithful picture of the information herein, e.g. material events 

occurring during the first six months of the financial year and their impact on the half-yearly accounts,  

a description of the main risks and contingencies for the remaining six months, and the principal related 

party transactions.

Paris, July 25, 2007

President and Chief Executive Officer

Carlos Ghosn
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On January �, 2006 Renault introduced a new 
geographical organization based on 5 Regions 
- France, Europe (excl. France), Euromed, Americas and 
Asia-Africa. Each Region is overseen by a Regional 

Management Committee, accountable for its Region’s 
contribution to the company’s results. The presentation 
of the Renault group’s sales results reflects this new 
organization.

Overview

Automobile

 The Renault group sold 1.27 million vehicles in first half 2007. Worldwide sales were down 3.7% on 
first half 2006. 

 In the France and Europe Regions, Group sales contracted 9.1% in a stable market (down 
0.1%). In both Regions, sales continued to fall as the market waited for the range to be renewed.  
The product offensive began in June with the launch of New Twingo. 

The Renault brand is now No. 3 for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles (cars + LCVs), with 
combined market share of 8.5%, down 1 percentage point and 815,600 registrations. With more than 
37,800 Logans sold in first half 2007, sales of the Dacia brand surged 42.0%. The Renault brand 
continued to lead the field in the LCV market, taking a 14.2% share, on excellent performances by 
Kangoo, Master and Trafic.

 In the Euromed, Americas and Asia-Africa Regions, Group sales rose 10.2%. These Regions 
now generate 31.6% of worldwide sales, up from 27.6% in first half 2006, reflecting Renault’s 
continued international expansion. Sales of the Renault brand advanced 18.0%, whereas Dacia’s 
sales contracted 3.7% and Renault Samsung’s 2.0%.

 In the Euromed Region, Group sales rose 5.4% on the success of Logan in Russia and strong results 
in North African countries.

 In the Americas Region, the Group - represented chiefly by the Renault brand - increased sales by 
27.0% in buoyant markets.

 In the Asia-Africa Region, sales grew 2.6% on a 10.2% increase in Renault brand sales while Renault 
Samsung’s sales dipped 1.6%.

SAleS FinAncing

 RCI Banque’s average loans outstanding fell 2.6% in first half 2007 to €22.6 billion.

•

•

•

-

-

-

•
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1.1. Automobile

1.1.1. Renault group worldwide sales - CARS + LCVs

 H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

GROUP 1,267,091 1,316,362 - 3.7

by region

France 344,853 385,472 - 10.5

Europe 521,587 567,187 - 8.0

France + Europe 866,440 952,659 - 9.1

Euromed 196,881 186,859 + 5.4

Americas 116,216 91,520 + 27.0

Asia-Africa 87,554 85,324 + 2.6

Euromed + Americas + Asia-Africa 400,651 363,703 + 10.2

by brAnd

Renault 1,097,257 1,153,698 - 4.9

Dacia 111,930 103,554 + 8.1

Renault Samsung 57,904 59,110 - 2.0

by vehicle type

Passenger cars 1,063,663 1,111,038 - 4.3

Light commercial vehicles 203,428 205,324 - 0.9

* Preliminary figures

Worldwide sales for the Renault group in first half 
2007 totaled �,267,�00 vehicles, down 49,�00 units 
or �.7% on first half 2006. This reflects a decline 
of 86,200 units, or 9.�%, in the France and Europe 
Regions, and an increase of �6,900 units, or �0.2%, 
in the rest of the world.

Dacia brand sales increased by nearly 8,400 units 
(8.�%), whereas Renault Samsung brand sales declined 
by �,200 units (2.0%). Renault brand sales were down 
56,400 units, or 4.9%.

1.1.2. France & Europe Regions

group SAleS by brAnd - cArS + lcvS

 H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

frAnce

Renault 329,914 374,050 - 11.8

Dacia 14,939 11,422 + 30.8

Group 344,853 385,472 - 10.5

europe  
Renault 498,684 551,964 - 9.7

Dacia 22,903 15,223 + 50.4

Group 521,587 567,187 - 8.0

frAnce + europe  
Renault 828,598 926,014 - 10.5

Dacia 37,842 26,645 + 42.0

Group 866,440 952,659 - 9.1
* Preliminary figures

The passenger car and light commercial vehicle market 
was stable, dipping just 0.�% in first half 2007 to 
9.6 million units. In this mature market, characterized by 
fierce competition and aggressive discounting, Group 
registrations shrank 9.�% to around 85�,400 units, 
representing market share of 8.9%, versus 9.8% in 
first half 2006. 

National trends varied. The market expanded 
significantly in Italy (up 5.�%), the U.K. (up 2.0%)  
- where the passenger car market began growing 
again - and Poland (up 24.7%). Conversely the 
automobile market contracted in Spain (down �.2%), 
France (down �.9%), Belgium-Luxembourg (down 
�.7%) and Germany (down 8.2%), where sales slumped 
as a result of the VAT hike at the start of 2007.

Ë Renault brand

With almost 8�5,600 vehicles registered in first half 
2007, a �0.6% decrease, the Renault brand ranked 
third in the passenger car and light commercial vehicle  
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market, with a share of 8.5%, down � percentage point 
on 2006.

The downturn in European markets can be attributed 
to Renault’s ageing lineup and market anticipation of 
the new models scheduled for release under Renault 
Commitment 2009. New Twingo was launched in 
France, Italy and Slovenia in June and has already  
got off to a promising start in those countries.  
It will be released on the other European markets in 
second half 2007. New Laguna will also be rolled out 
from October onwards.

At the same time the Group is pursuing its selective 
commercial policy, which involves increasing sales to 
the most profitable channels. 

By country

In France, despite a �2.0% decline in registrations, 
Renault was still the leading brand, taking 24.0% of the 
market, down 2.8 points. Mégane II, boosted by the 
phase-two version released in March 2006, and Clio 
(including Clio Campus and Clio III), were the second 
and third best selling models in France, taking 8.�% 
and 7.5% of the passenger car market respectively.  
In the compact minivan segment, sales of Scénic grew 
a further 5.5% to 60,700 units.

In the Europe Region, Renault is the No. � brand in 
Portugal (��.4%) and Slovenia (2�.2%), and No. 2 
in Spain (�0.2%) and Croatia (��.�%).

In Spain, where Renault pursued its selective 
commercial policy amid a fierce and costly price war, 
sales contracted 5.�%. 

In Germany, in a market that has been in decline since 
the beginning of the year, the Renault brand posted a 
�8.7% decrease and 4.�% market share.

In the U.K., Renault registrations were down �.4% in 
a market that has begun to grow again (up 2.0%) but 
remains highly sensitive to innovation and is waiting 
for Renault’s new lineup. 

In Poland, Renault grew sales 5.9% to ��,600 units. 
It benefited from a recovery in the market, which 
has been growing again over the past year, after a 
period of several months when imports of used cars 
from Western Europe largely replaced sales of new 
vehicles.

By model - passenger cars

The passenger car market in the France and Europe 
Regions totaled 8.4 million vehicles, down 0.7% on 
first half 2006. The Renault brand’s market share 
reached 7.7%, despite a �2.7% falloff in registrations.

By model, Renault’s performances were varied.

•  In the city car segment (A segment), Twingo 
(Twingo I and Twingo II) registrations rose �4.4% to 
�6,�00 units. Twingo I was taken off the market after 
a �4-year career during which more than 2.4 million 
units were sold. New Twingo is the first restyled 
vehicle under Renault Commitment 2009. Designed 
on the Clio II platform, it shares many components 
with that model. New Twingo is manufactured in 
Novo Mesto, Renault’s Slovenian plant, which already 
makes Clio II. New Twingo targets a broader, more 
international customer base, with two new features: 
a right-hand-drive model for the U.K. and a �.5 dCi 
diesel engine. The new model has been on sale in 
France, Italy and Slovenia since June �5 and will 
gradually be released on the other European markets. 
At end-June New Twingo had sold 9,�00 units.

•  With its twin product offering - Modus and Clio/
Thalia - Renault took �0.2% of the small car segment 
(B segment), down 2.� points on first half 2006.

modus registrations dropped by �5,�00 units on first 
half 2006, and accounted for �2.6% of the mini-MPV 
segment. Growth in this segment was lower than 
expected, and the sales targets announced when 
Modus was released in September 2004 have not 
been reached. Customer surveys nevertheless show a 
very high level of satisfaction among Modus owners. 

With registrations down �2.2%, Clio took 8.8% of 
the B segment, down from �0.�% in first half 2006. 
Clio III, which is manufactured in Flins (France), in 
Bursa (Turkey) since January 2006, and in Valladolid 
(Spain) since October 2006, will enter its third year on 
the market in September 2007. Clio II, renamed Clio 
Campus, has been kept in the range in order to offer 
an entry-level vehicle in the B segment. It still accounts 
for 24.9% of Clio sales.

Thalia, the sedan version of Clio, contributed to 
Renault’s performance in the B segment in Europe 
with almost �,700 units sold. An upgrade of the 
model was released in September 2006, with a new 
exterior styling, a new interior and new engines and 
features. 

The combined A and B small-car segments grew 
�.0%, generating more than one-third of sales in the 
France and Europe Regions.

•  Kangoo Car, which has been on the market for 
ten years, was boosted at the beginning of 2006 
by the release of two new versions: Kangoo Pampa 
Generation 2006 and Kangoo 4x4 Generation 2006. 
With a ��.�% share, down from ��.6% in first 
half 2006, Kangoo Car is in third position in the 
passenger-carrying van segment.
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•  mégane II, which has been on the market for five 

years, was boosted by the launch of a phase-two 
model in 2006. Though sales have contracted 
��.0% since the beginning of 2007, Mégane II is 
still in third position in the C segment with �0.�% 
of the segment, down from ��.2% in first half 2006, 
but leads the segment in France, with a 24.�% 
share, Slovenia (22.2%), Portugal (�7.�%) and the 
Netherlands (�0.8%).

In first half 2007, in a segment that shrank �.5%, 
Mégane II sold 27�,200 units in the France and 
Europe Regions. In this segment, sales of Scénic II 
stabilized (-�.9%) after the launch of a phase-two 
model in September 2006, and the introduction of 
a new version, 5-seater Grand Scénic. Scénic sales 
will get a further boost when Scénic Conquest is 
released at the start of the second half in France and 
Europe. Scénic Conquest has been given increased 
ground clearance and reinforced suspension for all-
road driving. In addition, honoring its commitment 
on biofuels, Renault is using the Mégane range 
for the European debut of its first engine using 
bioethanol E85. The new engine has been offered in 
France on Mégane Sedan and Mégane Estate since 
late June 2007.

•  In the upper midrange D segment, which shrank 
by 8.0%, �5,600 Lagunas were registered in first 
half 2007, a decline of 2�.6%. In second half 2007 
the launch of New Laguna will boost sales of the 
model. New Laguna will be unveiled to the public 
at the Frankfurt Auto Show in September 2007 and 
released on the market from October onwards. New 
Laguna embodies one of the commitments of the 
2009 Renault Plan, namely to be in the top three on 
the D segment for product and service quality right 
from launch. New Laguna is spearheading the quality 
objective that the Group has set for the whole range. 
Consequently, design and manufacturing processes 
for the new model have been tightened. New Laguna 
is manufactured at the Sandouville plant (France) 
to replace Laguna II, which was discontinued in 
June 2007.

•   With �,800 Vel Satis registered in first half 2007, 
Renault’s share of the E1 segment dipped two-tenths 
of a point to 0.6%. 

•  In the recovering MPV segment, which expanded 
�2.4%, Espace IV, boosted by the release of a 
phase-two model in March 2006, saw its share of the 
segment slip �.7 points to ��.8%, taking it to second 
place. Espace is No. � in the segment in France, with 
a �6.�% share, and No. 2 in Switzerland (�6.7%), 
the Netherlands (2�.7%) and Belgium-Luxembourg 
(�8.6%).

By model - light commercial vehicles

The light commercial vehicle market in the France and 
Europe Regions totaled �.2 million vehicles, up 4.8% 
on first half 2006. With LCV registrations down �.�% 
in first half 2007, the Renault brand took �4.2% of  
the market (down 0.9 points) and remained in the  
No. � spot for the ninth year running. That performance 
is especially important as the LCV range is the most 
profitable component of Renault’s offering. 

Renault sales surged in Portugal (up �8.�%), Switzerland 
(up �6.8%), Belgium-Luxembourg (up 7.�%), the U.K.  
(up 4.0%), Poland (up �6.�%) and in most other  
countries of Central Europe, especially the Czech 
Republic and the Baltic States. Conversely, sales 
decreased in Italy (down 0.�%), Germany (down 2.5%), 
and even more sharply in Spain (down 5.5%) and 
France (down 5.8%).

•  In the small van segment, with 5�,500 units sold, 
Kangoo Express is No. 2 in the France and Europe 
Regions, with �8.2% of the segment, down �.4 points 
on first half 2006.

•  In the car-derived van segment, Clio Van remained 
out in front with a share of �4.7%, up three-tenths of a 
point on first half 2006. Registrations of mégane Van 
dropped 8.�% but took 5.0% of the segment, down 
four-tenths of a point.

•  In the van segment, Renault took ��.2% of the 
market, down six-tenths of a point. Registrations 
of Trafic grew �4.8% while registrations of master 
rose �.2%. The launch of a phase two for Trafic and 
a phase three for Master in October 2006 enhanced 
the appeal of the range and lifted sales. To comply 
with Euro 4 standards, the diesel engine range was 
completely renewed with the introduction of the 
2.0 dCi, developed through the Alliance. 

Ë Dacia brand

With ��7,600 Logans sold since its launch in Europe in 
2004, Dacia has established itself successfully in the 
France and Europe Regions. In first half 2007 Logan 
sales leapt 42.2% on first half 2006 to �7,800 units, 
including more than �4,900 in France. In light of the 
strong sales achieved with the �.4 and �.6 gasoline 
engines, in March 2006 the Logan range in France and 
Europe was enhanced with a �.5 dCi diesel engine, 
already available on Clio, Modus and Kangoo. In many 
countries, this engine is the cheapest diesel in the 
market and accounts for 47.�% of the registration mix 
in the France and Europe Regions. Above all, since the 
beginning of 2007 the Logan range has featured a station 
wagon - Logan MCV - which already accounted for 58% 
of the Logan family’s sales mix at end-June 2007.
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1.1.3. Euromed Region

group SAleS by brAnd - cArS + lcvS

 H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

Renault 124,624 111,249 + 12.0

Dacia 72,257 75,529 - 4.3

Renault Samsung - 81 - 

Group 196,881 186,859 + 5.4
* Preliminary figures

The automobile market in the Euromed Region expanded 

by �4.7% in first half 2007. In this environment, Group 

sales increased by 5.4% to almost �97,900 units, 

representing 9.8% of the market and �5.5% of Renault’s 

worldwide sales.

Ë Renault brand

The Renault brand grew sales by a further �2.0%, with 

more than �24,600 units, equal to 6�.�% of the Group’s 

sales in the Region. The Renault brand’s share of the 

market remained steady at 6.2% on first half 2006.

In Turkey the market contracted by a further 28.�% 

in first half 2007 after the devaluation of the Turkish 

lira in May 2006. In this environment, Renault sales 

shrank 2�.�% and the brand was ranked second in the 

passenger car and light commercial vehicle market, 

with a share of �4.�%, up 0.9 points on first half 2006.

In Russia Renault’s sales surged 46.�% in first half 

2007 on the success of Logan, sold under the Renault 

brand. Logan has sold more than ��,000 units in 

Russia, accounting for 68.7% of the Group’s sales in 

the country, which makes Russia the biggest market 

for the model after Romania. These strong results 

enabled Renault to capture 4.0% of the Russian 

market. Logan has been assembled in the Avtoframos 

plant in Moscow since April 2005 and marketed since 

September 2005. To keep pace with demand, output 

at the Moscow plant was raised in June 2007 and 

will be increased further in mid-2009. The success 

of the Renault brand can also be attributed to sales 

of Mégane and Clio Symbol, which grew 42.2% and 

�9.4% respectively on first half 2006.

In Romania, with sales growth of 46.9% to 

�5,�00 units, the Renault brand made significant 

progress alongside Dacia and took 9.�% of the 

market, up from 7.7% in first half 2006. Sales of Clio, 

which accounted for more than half of the brand’s 

sales mix, expanded by 4�.4% with the launch of 

Clio III and strong results from Thalia (up �6.�%). 

Mégane II also put in a sterling performance with 

sales growth of 75.0%.

In Morocco, in a market that expanded �2.9%, 
Renault is the No. � brand with an �8.�% share. In 
first half 2007 Renault sales rose ��.2%, boosted 
by the performance of Mégane (up 40.4%), by Clio, 
whose sales practically doubled with the launch of 
Clio III, and by the ongoing popularity of Thalia (up 
5�.�%) as well as strong results from the LCV lineup 
(up 48.2%). Sales of Kangoo Car, which generated 
5�.�% of the Renault brand sales in Morocco, grew 
�8.0% in first half 2007.

Ë Dacia brand

Dacia’s sales were down 4.�% in the Euromed Region 
on first half 2006. With 72,�00 registrations, Dacia 
holds �.6% of the market in the Region. 

In Romania Dacia sales dropped 9.0% to 5�,�00 units 
in a market that grew 2�.7%. This decline can be 
attributed partly to the opening of the market to 
imports, as well as to the discontinuation of the  
pickup in 2006, meaning that all the installed capacity 
for this model could be switched to the Logan 
program. Dacia still leads the market, with a ��.�% 
share, 2�.6 points ahead of its nearest rival. Logan 
sales increased �.0% to more than 5�,�00 units. 
A full ��.�% of vehicles (cars and LCVs) registered in 
Romania are Logans. The Logan range was extended 
with the launch of Logan MCV at end-2006 and the 
LCV version derived from Logan MCV in February 
2007. With 8,500 and �,700 units sold in first half 
2007, the new models generated �6.5% and 7.2% of 
the Logan sales mix in Romania. 

In Morocco Logan has been assembled at the 
Somaca plant in Casablanca since July 2005 using 
CKDs shipped chiefly from Romania. With this local 
facility and 6,�00 Logans sold in first half 2007, Dacia 
maintained a significant ��.2% of the market at end-
June 2007 versus �6.7% in first half 2006. Dacia is 
now No. 2 brand in the Moroccan market, just behind 
Renault, and Logan is the top-selling vehicle across 
all categories. 
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1.1.4. Americas Region

group SAleS by brAnd - cArS + lcvS

 H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

Renault 114,864 89,969 + 27.7

Dacia 272 246 + 10.6

Renault Samsung 1,080 1,305 - 17.2

Group 116,216 91,520 + 27.0
* Preliminary figures

The automobile market in the Americas Region 

expanded �7.�% on first half 2006. With ��6,200 vehi-

cles sold, a 27.0% rise, the Group took 4.7% of the 

market. Group sales in the Region accounted for 

9.2% of Renault’s worldwide sales.

Most of the Group’s sales in the Americas Region 

(98.8%) were generated by the Renault brand, which 

posted a 27.7% rise in sales and boosted market share 

to 4.6% in first half 2007.

In Argentina, the automobile market expanded by 

a further 2�.5% in first half 2007. Driven by strong 

sales volumes for the whole range, but especially 

for Mégane I and II (up 7�.2%), the Group increased 

its sales by �7.2%. With �7,000 units sold, Renault 

grew market share by �.5 points to ��.�%. The launch 

of Grand Scénic II in June 2007 as well as Logan, 

sold under the Renault brand, will bolster the brand’s 

presence in the Argentine market. 

In Brazil, in a market that grew 25.7%, Renault 

sales rose �0.9% on first half 2006. This reflects 

the success of Mégane II, released in March 2006, 

and Mégane Grand Tour (the station wagon version 

of Mégane II) launched in November 2006. These 

launches multiplied Renault’s sales in the C segment 

by a factor of 2.�. The C segment accounted for 

��.7% of Renault’s sales mix at end-June 2007, 

up from �9.2% in first half 2006. The LCV offering, 

consisting of Kangoo and Master, also contributed 

to that growth, with sales up 47.4% in first half 2007. 

Logan, manufactured locally at the Curitiba plant, will 

make its debut on the Brazilian market in July 2007, 

and offer bioethanol engines, which are a must on 

the Brazilian market. Other significant launches are 

planned under Renault Commitment 2009 to swiftly 

adapt Renault’s product offering to Brazil, particularly 

a hatchback version of Logan, to be world-premiered 

in Brazil early in 2008. 

In Colombia Renault sales rose 24.7%, in a buoyant 

market (up �2.�%). With �9,�00 vehicles sold, Renault’s 

market share came to �7.9%, down �.� points on first 

half 2006, the brand confirmed its No. 2 ranking. All the 

models in the range, but especially Logan (up 4�.6%), 

contributed to that performance. 

In Mexico, in a market that shrank 2.�%, Renault’s 
market share went down 0.2 points at �.7%. In first 
half 2007 Renault sales fell ��.5% to 8,700 units in 
anticipation of the range renewal, starting with the 
launch of Clio III and Kangoo Car in June. 

In Venezuela, Group sales doubled in first half 2007 
in a market that expanded 50.5%. Sales of Logan  
(up �48.5%), which account for half of Renault’s sales 
made a strong contribution to that growth.

1.1.5. Asia-Africa Region

group SAleS by brAnd - cArS + lcvS

 H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

Renault 29,171 26,466 + 10.2

Dacia 1,559 1,134 + 37.5

Renault Samsung 56,824 57,724 - 1.6

Group 87,554 85,324 + 2.6
* Preliminary figures

In the Asia-Africa Region, the market grew 4.0% 
on first half 2006 and Group sales rose 2.6%. With 
almost 87,600 vehicles sold, the Group took 0.8% 
of the market. Group sales in the Asia-Africa Region 
accounted for 6.9% of Renault’s worldwide sales.

Ë Renault Samsung brand

Renault Samsung Motors’ sales in South Korea, 
where the brand generates 98.�% of its worldwide 
sales, dipped �.5% to 56,800 units in first half 2007.

Renault Samsung’s share of the Korean passenger-car 
market fell �.4 points to ��.�%:

•  The SM7 sold 7,400 units in first half 2007 and took 
9.5% of the “Large and Luxury” segment, enabling it 
to hold onto its No. 2 position, despite a �7.6% drop 
in sales;

•  The SM5 sold �4,200 units, a 4.�% rise on first half 
2006. Renault Samsung’s share of the “mid-segment” 
is 29.2%, which kept it firmly in the No.2 spot in the 
segment. The SM5, which accounted for 60.2% of 
the brand’s sales volumes in Korea, will be boosted 
at the beginning of July by the launch of a restyled 
version, which should lift sales;

•  Sales of the SM3 in first half 2007 reached 
�5,200 units, a 4.5% decrease. The SM�’s share of 
the “sub-mid” segment, which came to �7.0%, kept 
Renault Samsung in second place in the segment.

At end-June 2007 Renault Samsung Motors exported 
almost 24,600 vehicles, mostly for sale by Nissan under 
its own brand as part of the Alliance agreement.

In 2007 the Renault Samsung range will be extended by 
a fourth model to be released in December. The cross-
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over vehicle will be derived from the Koleos Concept 

unveiled at the Paris Motor Show in September 2006. 

The model will be manufactured locally at the Busan 

plant. Half the new vehicles produced will then be 

exported to Europe.

Ë Renault brand

Sales of the Renault brand grew �0.2% to 29,200 units 

in the Asia-Africa Region.

The Renault brand made its debut in India, a 

market that grew 8.5% in first half. The first Logan 

manufactured in India at the Nashik plant rolled off the 

production line in early April 2007, and the first vehicles 

produced under the partnership between Renault and 

Mahindra & Mahindra are being registered. At end-

June 2007 5,200 Logans were sold in India. Under 

the agreement signed in March 2005, the Mahindra-

Renault joint venture has an initial production capacity 
of 50,000 cars in two shifts.

Renault has already capitalized on its successful 
partnership with Mahindra & Mahindra by signing a 
Memorandum of Understanding in November 2006  
that provides for a new industrial facility with 
production capacity of 400,000 units in the long run, 
shared by Mahindra & Mahindra and the Alliance, 
and a Renault powertrain plant. India is thus set to 
become one of the key drivers of Renault’s growth in 
emerging markets. 

In South Africa (including Namibia), Renault’s leading 
market in the Asia-Africa Region, sales dropped 42.�% 
on first half 2006. This decline can be attributed to 
the depreciation of the rand against the euro, which 
prompted the Group to tighten its commercial policy so 
as to maintain profitability.

internAtionAl rollout of the logAn 
progrAm

LOGAn UnIT SALES
h1 

 2007*
 h1 

 2006*

Since 
Sept. 
2004

dAciA brAnd  

France 14,939 11,422 43,528

Europe 22,865 15,169 74,061

Euromed 72,257 68,894 330,016

o/w: Romania 51,312 49,803 255,898

Morocco 6,265 6,998 21,487

Algeria 5,563 4,086 16,942

Americas 272 241 860

Asia-Africa 1,559 1,134 5,925

Logan Total under  
the Dacia brand 111,892 96,860 454,390

   

renAult brAnd

Euromed 31,031 21,115 87,411

o/w: Russia 31,031 21,115 87,411

Americas 10,947 5,823 27,616

o/w: Venezuela 5,422 2,182 11,148

Colombia 4,221 2,940 13,334

Asia-Africa 5,303 - 5,303

o/w: India 5,167 - - 

Logan Total under  
the Renault brand 47,281 26,938 120,330

    

logAn totAl 159,173 123,798 574,720
* Preliminary figures

Production

The plant in Romania is the main Logan production 
site, supplying all countries in the France and Europe 
Regions, as well as Turkey, Algeria, Ukraine, the 
Middle East and Central Africa. The site has been 
manufacturing Logan Sedan since June 2004, Logan 
MCV since September 2006, and the LCV version 
since December 2006.

In 2005 three other sites started manufacturing Logan 
Sedan: Moscow in Russia (April 2005), Casablanca 
in Morocco (June 2005) and Envigado in Colombia 
(July 2005). 

To support Logan’s sales growth, the Group is 
ramping up production capacity. Capacity at the 
Envigado site in Colombia was raised from an annual 
45,000 to 70,000 units in August 2006. In Russia, the 
Group increased output from 60,000 to 80,000 units 
a year in June 2007. In light of domestic demand and 
the potential of the Russian market, in February 2007 
the Group decided to further extend the capacity of 
the Avtoframos plant to �60,000 units by mid-2009 
in order to manufacture new models of the Logan 
range. In Romania, approximately €�00 million is 
being invested to increase the production capacity 
of the Pitesti plant from 2�5,000 units in 2006 to 
�50,000 in 2008.

The year 2007 marks a new stage with the startup 
of production in Brazil, India and Iran, taking the 
number of Logan manufacturing sites to seven. In 
February 2007 production started up in Brazil for the 
domestic and Argentine markets. Cars manufactured 
at the Curitiba plant will also be sold in Mexico, where 
Nissan will sell a Logan derivative under its own brand.  
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To boost production, Renault set up a second shift at 
the car assembly plant in early April 2007 and hired 
600 workers.

In India, the agreement signed in March 2005 with 
Renault’s Indian partner Mahindra includes production 
of a right-hand-drive Logan. The first Logan came off 
the production line at Nashik on April 4, 2007.

Logan’s debut in Iran, where it is sold under the name 
Tondar-90, is encouraging. In one pre-launch week, 
85,000 vehicle orders were recorded, which is the 
equivalent of total production scheduled for 2007. 
Installed production capacity will be �00,000 units 
a year by 2009, at the sites of Renault’s two local 
partners, Iran Khodro and Saipa. 

By the end of Renault Commitment 2009, Renault also 
intends to use production capacity at Nissan plants in 
South Africa and Indonesia to produce Logan.

Sales and marketing

In first half 2007 a total of �59,200 Logans were 
sold worldwide, a 28.6% increase on first half 2006. 
Since the model was first released in Romania in 
September 2004, 574,700 units have been sold.

Logan is now sold in 54 countries, in 45 under the 
Dacia brand, and in 9 under the Renault brand (Russia, 
Colombia, Venezuela, India, Ecuador, Brazil, Argentina, 
Chile and Iran). 

Logan has been a big success in all the countries where 
it has been sold, including in the France and Europe 
Regions. Logan is enabling the Group to conquer new 
markets in the Euromed, Americas and Asia-Africa 
Regions, and to build strong positions, especially in 
the countries where Logan is manufactured.

Romania generates �2.2% of Logan sales. This 
share is falling, however, as sales in other countries 

grow, especially in the Americas Region, where 
��,200 Logans were sold in first half 2007, which is 
an 85.0% increase on first half 2006. This strong 
performance can be attributed to the popularity of 
the model in Colombia (up 4�.6%) and Venezuela 
(up �48.4%) and by the introduction of Logan to 
Argentina in June. This trend in the Region is set to 
firm when Logan goes on the market in Brazil in July 
and sales volumes increase in Argentina. 

In the France and Europe Regions, Logan sales jumped 
42.2% to �7,800 units and accounted for almost one-
fourth of worldwide sales of the model.

In Asia-Africa, Logan sales reached almost 6,900 units, 
after Logan was launched in India and Iran. 

The top �2 Logan selling countries are: Romania, 
Russia, France, Germany, Morocco, Algeria, Venezuela, 
India, Colombia, Spain, Ukraine and Turkey.

Expanding the range

The Logan range was extended with the release of 
Logan MCV (Multi Convivial Vehicle) in October 2006 in 
Romania and Bulgaria. Logan MCV is a station wagon 
that seats up to seven adults. At end-June �2,900 units 
of the model had been sold, representing 20.7% of the 
Logan family’s sales mix in first half 2007. The model 
is sold in 25 countries, mainly in the Europe, Euromed 
and France Regions. 

Logan Van, the LCV version derived from Logan MCV, 
was launched on the Romanian and Bulgarian markets 
in February 2007. A total of �,800 units of the model, 
which accounts for 2.4% of the Logan family’s sales 
mix, were sold in first half 2007. 

The rollout of the range will continue with a hatchback, 
a pickup and a cross-over. The Logan range will consist 
of six vehicles by the end of Renault Commitment 2009.



�5

Earnings Report - Renault 2007

Chapter 1Sales performance
1.2. SAleS finAncing

1.2.1. Proportion of new vehicle 
registrations financed

In first half 2007 RCI Banque financed �2.4% of 
new Renault, Nissan and Dacia registrations.

RCI Banque’s share of financing in the France and 
Europe Regions was stable at ��.0% (versus ��.2% 
in first half 2006). RCI Banque financed a larger 
proportion of Renault registrations (�5.�%, up from 
�4.2% in first half 2006) but a smaller proportion of 
Nissan registrations (2�.2%, down from �0.�% in 
first half 2006). 

RCI Banque’s share of registrations decreased 
in the Americas Region (27.�% versus 29.8% in 
first half 2006). Good results in Argentina were not 
enough to offset a downturn in Brazil.

RCI Banque’s share rose sharply to 28.�% in South 
Korea, RCI’s only outlet in the Asia-Africa Region, 
after 8.4% in first half 2006.

RCI Banque’s performance in the Euromed Region 
improved to �2.2%, up from 28.4% in first half 
2006, on strong business in Romania (the only 
consolidated country in the Region).

1.2.2. New financing contracts  
and average loans outstanding 

RCI Banque generated €4.9 billion in new financing 
contracts excluding “card” business at end-June 2007 
(versus €5.� billion in first half 2006, a decline of 4.8%), 
with 472,54� new contracts in first half 2007 compared 
with 500,7�4 in first half 2006, a decline of 5.6%. 

In first half 2007 RCI Banque’s average loans 
outstanding dipped 2.6% to €22.6 billion.

1.2.3. International growth

RCI Banque changed its structure in the U.K. by setting 
up RCI Financial Services, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of RCI in the U.K., which now manages Renault and 
Nissan business.

RCI Banque established a presence in the Nordic 
countries, where a RCI branch has been set up and will 
be open for business on January �, 2008; in Morocco, 
where an application to set up a finance company 
was lodged with the Moroccan central bank, with a 
view to starting up consumer financing in October and 
network financing in December; and also in Ukraine, 
where a commercial company is in the process of 
being set up.

RCI Banque also stepped up its presence in Poland, by 
starting up the network financing and Nissan customer 
business on January �, 2007.

In first half 2007 RCI Banque also launched finance 
businesses in:

•  Slovenia (operational startup of the branch and the 
network financing business; transfer of Renault’s 
customer sales agreements on January �, 2007),

•  the Baltic States (operational startup of the sales 
agreement with Hansa Leasing).
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1.3. SAleS And production StAtiSticS

totAl induStry volume - regiStrAtionS - cArS + lcvS (in unitS)

mAIn REnAULT GROUP mARKETS  H1 2007* H1 2006* % change

France Region 1,319,357 1,344,375 - 1.9
 

Europe Region 8,263,128 8,244,021 + 0.2

o/w:

Germany 1,684,625 1,835,753 - 8.2

Italy 1,533,526 1,455,861 + 5.3

UK 1,442,467 1,413,684 + 2.0

Spain + Canary Islands 997,228 1,009,246 - 1.2

Belgium + Luxembourg 379,013 393,699 - 3.7

Poland 172,524 138,388 + 24.7

frAnce + europe regionS 9,582,485 9,588,396 - 0.1
 

Euromed Region 1,999,586 1,743,198 + 14.7

o/w:  

Romania 164,949 133,382 + 23.7

Russia 1,123,011 867,217 + 29.5

Turkey 233,169 325,363 - 28.3

Algeria 99,864 74,080 + 34.8

Morocco 47,555 42,104 + 12.9
  
Americas Region 2,480,544 2,119,127 + 17.1

o/w:  

Mexico 517,991 530,183 - 2.3

Colombia 106,709 80,771 + 32.1

Brazil 1,027,736 817,774 + 25.7

Argentina 282,615 232,526 + 21.5

Asia-Africa Region 11,095,797 10,664,166 + 4.0

o/w:    

South Africa 293,409 298,147 - 1.6

South Korea 621,012 566,939 + 9.5

euromed + AmericAS** + ASiA-AfricA regionS 15,575,927 14,526,491 + 7.2
* Preliminary figures
** Excl. North America
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renAult group  
regiStrAtionS (reg’S) And mArket ShAre (mkt Sh.) - cArS + lcvS

SALES PERFORmAnCE In mAIn mARKETS

H1 2007*  H1 2006*

Reg’s 
(in units)

Mkt Sh.  
(as a%)

Reg’s 
(in units)

Mkt Sh.  
(as a%)

France Region 331,839 25.2 371,698 27.6
   

Europe Region 521,542 6.3 567,123 6.9

o/w:   

Germany 76,737 4.6 86,991 4.7

Italy 81,164 5.3 87,188 6.0

U.K. 81,308 5.6 84,213 6.0

Spain + Canary Islands 105,654 10.6 110,641 11.0

Belgium + Luxembourg 36,964 9.8 41,682 10.6

Poland 12,709 7.4 11,749 8.5

frAnce + europe regionS 853,381 8.9 938,821 9.8
   

Euromed Region 196,881 9.8 186,859 10.5

o/w:   

Romania 66,380 40.2 66,659 50.0

Russia 45,169 4.0 30,864 3.6

Turkey 36,115 15.5 46,936 14.4

Algeria 18,077 18.1 13,005 17.6

Morocco 14,979 31.5 13,555 32.2
 
Americas Region 116,216 4.7 91,520 4.3

o/w:   

Mexico 8,745 1.7 9,885 1.9

Colombia 19,096 17.9 15,319 19.0

Brazil 30,558 3.0 23,345 2.9

Argentina 37,003 13.1 26,968 11.6

Asia-Africa Region 87,554 0.8 85,324 0.8

o/w:   

South Africa 5,025 1.7 8,675 2.9

South Korea 56,824 9.2 57,710 10.2

euromed + AmericAS**  
+ ASiA-AfricA regionS 400,651 2.6 363,703 2.5
* Preliminary figures
** Excl. North America
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renAult group 
regiStrAtionS in frAnce + europe regionS by model - cArS + lcvS (in unitS)

  H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

Twingo / Twingo II 36,437 31,928 + 14.1

Clio / Clio III 240,186 270,005 - 11.0

Thalia 3,689 4,527 - 18.5

Modus 34,252 50,021 - 31.5

Logan 37,780 26,554 + 42.3

Mégane / Mégane II 276,352 311,280 - 11.2

Laguna 35,907 47,010 - 23.6

Vel Satis 1,832 2,741 - 33.2

Espace / Espace IV 21,372 24,085 - 11.3

Kangoo 73,617 84,269 - 12.6

Trafic / Trafic II 47,419 40,846 + 16.1

Master / Master II 40,253 39,679 + 1.4

Mascott** / RWD Master 3,637 5,549 - 34.5

Maxity** 409 - - 

Other 239 327 - 26.9

regiStrAtionS in frAnce + europe 853,381 938,821 - 9.1

* Preliminary figures
** Mascott and Maxity are distributed by Renault Trucks, a subsidiary of AB Volvo.

renAult group 
regiStrAtionS in euromed, AmericAS And ASiA-AfricA regionS by model - cArS + lcvS (in unitS)

 H1 2007*  H1 2006* % change

Twingo 6,759 6,045 + 11.8

Clio / Clio III 49,730 46,477 + 7.0

Thalia / Symbol 46,401 41,810 + 11.0

Modus 962 2,765 - 65.2

Logan 121,369 97,207 + 24.9

Mégane / Mégane II 71,513 59,513 + 20.2

Laguna 2,109 2,062 + 2.3

Vel Satis 31 42 - 26.2

Espace / Espace IV 84 121 - 30.6

SM3 16,045 17,023 - 5.7

SM5 34,429 33,039 + 4.2

SM7 7,430 9,048 - 17.9

Pickup 1300 - 6,608 - 

Kangoo 35,022 32,887 + 6.5

Trafic / Trafic II 1,843 2,233 - 17.5

Master / Master II 6,747 6,521 + 3.5

Mascott** / RWD Master 143 244 - 41.4

Maxity** 4 - - 

Other 30 58 - 48.3

regiStrAtionS in euromed + AmericAS + ASiA-AfricA 400,651 363,703 + 10.2

* Preliminary figures
** Mascott and Maxity are distributed by Renault Trucks, a subsidiary of AB Volvo.
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renAult group 
SAleS performAnce of modelS by Segment in frAnce + europe regionS*

% change 
segment

h1 2007 / 
h1 2006

Renault’s share

Rank
h1 2007

% 
h1 2007

%
h1 2006

Change (pt) 
h1 2007 / 

h1 2006

pASSenger cArS       

A segment 

Twingo / Twingo II 0.0 5.9 5.1 + 0.7 7

B segment

Clio / Clio III + 1.3 8.8 10.1 - 1.3 4

Thalia + 1.3 0.1 0.2 0.0 33

Modus + 1.3 1.3 2.0 - 0.6 22

Logan + 1.3 1.5 1.1 + 0.4 19

C segment

Mégane / Mégane II - 3.5 10.3 11.2 - 0.9 3

D segment

Laguna - 8.0 2.9 3.5 - 0.6 13

E1 segment

Vel Satis - 4.4 0.6 0.8 - 0.2 20

MPV segment

Espace / Espace IV + 12.4 13.8 17.5 - 3.7 2

Passenger - carrying van

Kangoo - 6.0 11.3 13.6 - 2.3 3

Trafic / Trafic II - 6.0 4.4 3.4 + 1.0 10

Master / Master II - 6.0 1.3 1.2 + 0.1 15

light commerciAl vehicleS

Car-derived vans      

Twingo - 1.2 0.2 0.3 0.0 39

Clio - 1.2 14.7 14.4 + 0.3 1

Modus - 1.2 0.9 1.3 - 0.4 22

Mégane / Mégane II - 1.2 5.0 5.4 - 0.4 5

Small vans      

Kangoo - 0.9 18.2 19.6 - 1.4 2

Vans      

Trafic / Trafic II + 9.5 6.5 6.2 + 0.3 5

Master / Master II + 9.5 6.1 6.6 - 0.5 7

Mascott / RWD Master + 9.5 0.6 1.0 - 0.4 23

* Preliminary figures
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renAult group 
WorldWide production by model And by Segment (1) - cArS + lcvS (in unitS)

H1 2007* H1 2006* % change

Logan 184,504 130,721 + 41.1

Twingo / Twingo II 56,146 36,139 + 55.4

Clio** 100,867 112,815 - 10.6

Clio III 193,838 218,175 - 11.2

Thalia 62,854 48,405 + 29.9

Modus 33,383 42,706 - 21.8

Mégane / Mégane II 346,403 371,057 - 6.6

SM3 42,048 33,679 + 24.8

Laguna II 46,860 44,979 + 4.2

Laguna III 509 - -

SM5 37,710 34,155 + 10.4

SM7 7,909 10,360 - 23.7

Espace IV 22,260 25,041 - 11.1

Vel Satis 1,739 2,651 - 34.4

Kangoo 117,784 122,815 - 4.3

Trafic II (2) - - -

Master II 61,792 59,106 + 4.5

Mascott 997 9,252 - 89.2

Pickup 1300 - 6,431 -
    
WORLDWIDE GROUP PRODUCTIOn 1,317,603 1,308,487 + 0.7
(1)  Production data are the number of vehicles leaving the production line. 
(2)  New Trafic production at the General Motors Europe plant in Luton (U.K.) and the Nissan plant in Barcelona (Spain) was not recorded  

as Renault production.
* Preliminary figures
**  Including 9,430 Renault-branded Clio manufactured at the Nissan plant in Aguascalientes (Mexico) in first half 2006.
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renAult group’S neW geogrAphicAl orgAnizAtion - countrieS in eAch region

AmERICAS

NORTHERN LATIN 
AMERICA

Colombia
Costa Rica

Cuba
Ecuador

Honduras
Mexico

Nicaragua
Panama

El Salvador
Venezuela

Dominican Republic
Guadeloupe

French Guiana
Martinique

SOUTHERN LATIN 
AMERICA

Argentina
Brazil
Bolivia
Chile

Paraguay
Peru

Uruguay

ASIA
& AFRICA

ASIA  
PACIFIC

Australia
Indonesia

Japan
Malaysia

New Caledonia
New Zealand

Singapore
Tahiti

Thailand

INDIA

MIDDLE EAST  
& FRENCH-
SPEAKING  

AFRICA

Saudi Arabia
Egypt
Jordan

Lebanon
Libya

Pakistan
Gulf States

Syria
+ French-speaking  
African countries

AFRICA &  
INDIAN OCEAN 

South Africa
+ sub-Saharan  

African countries
Indian Ocean Islands

KOREA

IRAN

CHINA

Hong Kong
Taiwan

ISRAEL

EUROmED

EASTERN 
EUROPE

Bulgaria
Moldova
Romania

RUSSIA / CIS

Armenia
Belarus
Georgia

Kazakhstan
Russia
Ukraine

…

TURKEY

Turkey
Turkish Cyprus

…

NORTH  
AFRICA

Algeria
Morocco
Tunisia

EUROPE
(EXCL. FRAnCE)

Austria
Germany

Belgium-Lux.
Bosnia
Cyprus
Croatia

Denmark
Spain

Finland
Greece

Hungary
Ireland
Iceland

Italy
Kosovo

Macedonia
Malta

Montenegro
Norway

Baltic States
Netherlands

Poland
Portugal

Czech Republic
U.K.

Serbia
Slovakia
Slovenia
Sweden

Switzerland

FRAnCE

 
 Metropolitan 

France
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 The Group’s consolidated revenues totaled €20,562 million, down 1.4% year-on-year on a consistent 
basis.

 Operating margin reached €722 million, or 3.5% of revenues, versus €592 million, or 2.8% of 
revenues in first half 2006 (the ratio of 2.7% reported for 2006 was restated 0.1 points - seen at the 
same level in 2007 - higher to reflect the impact of new accounting methods on revenues) (1).

 Other operating income and expenses showed a net charge of €33 million, compared with a net 
income of €57 million in first half 2006.

 The financing account showed a negative net balance of €112 million, compared with €36 million 
in first half 2006.

 Nissan’s contribution to Renault’s earnings was €615 million, compared with €1,013 million in first 
half 2006. AB Volvo’s contribution was €181 million, compared with €202 million in first half 2006.

Net income totaled €1,317 million, compared with €1,659 million in first half 2006.

Earnings per share came to €4.96, compared with €6.34 in first half 2006.

 Automobile generated free cash flow (2) of €1,339 million. The net financial debt of this activity 
decreased by €861 million relative to December 31, 2006, and amounted to €1,553 million. Group 
shareholders’ equity stood at €21,704 million on June 30, 2007.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

2.1. commentS on the finAnciAl reSultS

2.1.1. Consolidated income statement

Group revenues came to €20,562 million, down �.4% on a consistent basis compared with the same period in 2006.

diviSionAl contribution to group revenueS

€ million

2007 reported 2006 restated for 2007 
structure and methods(1) Chg 2007 / 2006 2006 

reported

Q1 Q2 H1 Q1 Q2 H1 Q1 Q2 H1 H1

Automobile 9,436 10,131 19,567 9,762 10,109 19,871 - 3.3% + 0.2% - 1.5% 20,560

Sales Financing 478 517 995 481 504 985 - 0.6% + 2.6% + 1.0% 987

Total 9,914 10,648 20,562 10,243 10,613 20,856 - 3.2% + 0.3% - 1.4% 21,547

The contribution from Sales Financing (RCI Banque) 
to revenues was €995 million, up �% on first half 2006. 
The contribution from Automobile was €�9,567 million, 
down �.5% compared with first half 2006 on a consistent 
basis. 

Several trends were at work:

•  The revenue contribution from the France and  
Europe Regions fell 4.�% in anticipation of the rollout 
of several key products as from 2007: New Twingo in 
mid-June and the new version of Laguna in the last 
quarter of 2007.

•  The contribution from other Regions was up 2.�%, 
chiefly on strong volume growth in the Americas and 
Euromed Regions. 

Sales of powertrains and built-up vehicles to partners 
brought a positive contribution of 0.�%.

Group operating margin in first half 2007 increased 
by 22% to €722 million, or �.5% of revenues, 
compared with €592 million and 2.8% in first half 2006 
(the reported 2006 ratio of 2.7% has been restated 
0.� points higher, reflecting the impact of changes in 
accounting methods on revenues). 

(1)  The changes in accounting methods chiefly concern operations related to contracts with subcontractors and sales of parts under warranty 
to customers, previously recorded as revenue.

(2)  Free cash flow: self-financing capacity less property, plant, equipment and intangibles net of sales, including the variation in working capital 
requirements.
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diviSionAl contribution to group operAting mArgin

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Change 2006 restated 2006 reported

Automobile 455 323 + 40.9% 571 571

% of revenues 2.3% 1.6%  1.5% 1.4%
    

Sales Financing 267 269 - 0.7% 492 492

% of revenues 26.8% 27.3% 25.6% 25.6%

    
Total 722 592 + 22% 1,063 1,063

% of revenues 3.5% 2.8%(1) 2.64% 2.56%

Sales Financing contributed €267 million to Group 
operating margin, or 26.8% of its revenues, versus 
€269 million in first half 2006. This can be explained 
by a slight decline in sales financing business, due to 
the decrease in commercial activity in Automobile. 

Amid adverse economic conditions in first half 2007, 
with a negative currency impact of €79 million and 
raw materials costs up by €�47 million, Automobile’s 
contribution to operating margin increased 4�% to 
€455 million, or 2.�% of its revenues, owing chiefly to:

•  Continued cost-cutting efforts:

−  purchasing costs fell by €�02 million excluding 
the impact of raw materials;

− manufacturing costs improved by €�2� million;

− G&A declined 6%, by €59 million;

−  nevertheless, an additional warranty provision of 
€67 million was made to take into account recent 
expenses for the oldest models in the range;

•  Growth in international sales and the steady 
performance of the commercial vehicle line-up in 
Europe.

The higher capitalization rate for R&D expenses 
related to product development, net of the increase 
in amortization, resulted in lower R&D expenses in 
this half.

renAult group - r&d expenSeS*

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

R&D expenses 1,222 1,227 2,400

% of revenues 5.9% 5.9% 6.0%
   

Capitalized development expenses (666) (543) (1,091)

% R&D expenses 54.5% 44.3% 45.5%

Amortization 351 337 654
   

R&D expenses recorded in the income statement 907 1,021 1,963

* R&D expenses are fully incurred by Automobile

Research and Development expenses amounted 
to €�,222 million in first half 2007. This amount 
reflects the development of the future product line-
up under Renault Commitment 2009 (i.e. 26 products 
over the period covered by the Plan). Capitalized 
R&D expenses reached €666 million, or 54.5% of 
the total, compared with 44.�% in first half 2006. 
The increase reflects the strong involvement of 
engineering departments in new projects (both those 
that have passed their milestones and those in the 
full development phase compared with the previous 
year) and in particular the new Mégane program. 
Amortization totaled €�5� million. 

Overall, R&D expenses recorded in the income 
statement amounted to €907 million, compared with 
€�,02� million in first half 2006.

Other operating income and expenses showed a 
net charge of €�� million, compared with net income 
of €57 million in first half 2006. In first half 2007, this 
item essentially comprises: 

•  €6� million in restructuring and workforce adjustment 
costs and provisions;

•  capital gains amounting to €48 million, compared 
with €�20 million in first half 2006, on the sale of land, 
mainly in France and Spain. 

(1)  The ratio of 2.7% reported for 2006 has been restated 0.1 points (seen at the same level in 2007) higher, reflecting the impact of changes in 
accounting methods on revenues. 
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After recognizing this item, Group operating income 
came out at €689 million, versus €649 million in first 
half 2006.

net financial income/expense showed a charge of 
€��2 million, compared with a charge of €�6 million in 
first half 2006. This larger expense was due mainly to 
the fair value change in redeemable shares, which had 
a negative impact of €�04 million. Through efficient 
management of financial assets and liabilities, the 
Group continued to optimize its debt service, earning 
income of €�� million in first half 2007. Stripping out 
the fair value increase of redeemable shares, financial 
results improved by €�2 million. 

In first half 2007, Renault booked a profit of €8�7 million 
from its share in the net income of associated 
companies: 

• €6�5 million from Nissan;

• €�8� million from AB Volvo.

Current and deferred taxes amounted to a net 
charge of €97 million, compared with €�66 million 
in first half 2006. The effective tax rate (before the 
impact of income from associated companies) was 
�7% in first half 2007, compared with 27% in first half 
2006. The lower rate was due to the refund of a tax 
credit in Italy and the continued improvement in the 
profit outlook for Argentina and Brazil. 

net income was €�,��7 million, compared with 
€�,659 million in first half 2006. After neutralizing 
treasury stock and Renault shares held by Nissan, 
earnings per share came to €4.96, compared with 
€6.�4 in first half 2006.

2.1.2. Investments and future-related 
costs

net capital expenditure by Automobile came to 
€�,766 million in first half 2007 (including €666 million 
in capitalized R&D expenses), compared with 
€�,795 million in first half 2006 (including €54� million 
in capitalized R&D expenses).

tAngible And intAngible inveStmentS net of diSpoSAlS, by diviSion

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 2006

Tangible investments 1,518 1,676 3,340

Intangible investments 697 564 1,129

o/w: capitalized R&D 666  543 1,091

o/w: other intangible investments 31 21 38

Total acquisitions 2,215 2,240 4,469

Disposal gains (449) (445) (884)

Total - Automobile 1,766 1,795 3,585

Total - Sales Financing 20 (72) (93)

TOTAL - GROUP 1,786 1,723 3,492

In first half 2007, capital expenditure was directed 
primarily at renewing products and components and 
upgrading facilities.

•  In Europe, range-related investments accounted  
for 77% of total gross outlays in this area. Funds 
were allocated chiefly to the next Laguna and 
Kangoo.

•  Outside Europe, investments accounted for 29% 
of the total gross spend. Funds were assigned to 
the production of gearboxes in Romania and to the 
Renault Samsung Motors vehicle range.

The main non product-related investments were in 
quality, working conditions and the environment, as in 
2005 and 2006.
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renAult group - future-relAted coStS

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 2006

Capital expenditures, net of disposals 1,786 1,723 3,492

Capitalized development expenses (666) (543) (1,091)

Leased vehicles (net of disposals) (149) (221) (181)

Net industrial and commercial investments (1) 971 959 2,220
% of revenues 4.7% 4.6% 5.5%

R&D expenses (2) 1,222 1,227 2,400
% of revenues 5.9% 5.9% 6.0%

Future-related costs (1) + (2) 2,193 2,186 4,620
% of revenues 10.7% 10.4% 11.5%

2.1.3. Automotive debt

net financial debt of Automobile was €2,4�4 million 
at December ��, 2006. In first half 2007, it decreased 
by €86� million to €�,55� million, or 7.2% of share-
holders equity (compared with ��.5% restated at 
December ��, 2006).

This improvement was due to the following:

•  cash flow increased by €755 million on a consistent 
basis compared with first half 2006, totaling 
€2,679 million; cash flow included €687 million in 
dividends from associated companies, of which:
- €207 million from Nissan, 
- €477 million from AB Volvo;

•  net capital expenditure decreased to €�,766 million, 
compared with €�,795 million in first half 2006;

•  a €426 million improvement in the working capital 
surplus as of June �0, 2007. 

Automobile generated €�,��9 million in free cash flow. 
The dividend payout was €9�� million, compared with 
€68� million in 2006, including €86� million paid by 
Renault SA. 

Automobile’s net financial debt improved as a result of 
translation gains, including €286 million in connection 
with yen-denominated debt.

Automobile - net finAnciAl debt

€ million June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Non-current financial liabilities 5,552 5,159

Current financial liabilities 4,098 4,423

Non-current financial assets - other securities, loans and derivatives  
on financial operations (487) (527)

Current financial assets (1,777) (1,678)

Cash and cash equivalents (5,833) (4,963)

net financial debt 1,553 2,414

2.1.4. Shareholders’ equity

At June �0, 2007, shareholders’ equity had increased 
by €6�� million to €2�,704 million, compared with a 
restated amount of €2�,07� million at December ��, 
2006.

The main reasons for the increase are:

•  recognition of €�,��7 million in net income for first 
half 2007;

•  an €80� million dividend payout by Renault, or €�.�0 
per share for 2006, given Renault’s equity interest in 
Nissan and treasury stock;

•  a €�2 million decline in translation adjustments, 
mainly including the indirect impact of the change in 
Nissan shareholders’ equity, net of yen hedging;

•  a €24 million increase in the financial instrument 
revaluation reserve (cash flow hedges and available-
for-sale financial instruments);

•  a reduction in the number of treasury shares (2.20% 
of Renault’s capital at June 20, 2007, compared 
with 2.70% at December ��, 2006) which lifted 
shareholders’ equity by €62 million.

2.1.5. Off-balance sheet commitments 
and contingent liabilities

The Group made no significant new commitments 
during the period under review. The main off-balance 
sheet commitments are discussed in Note �9 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, which 
contain no material omissions, to the best knowledge 
of senior management.
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2.2. condenSed conSolidAted finAnciAl StAtementS

The comparative information for 2006 presented in this document has been adjusted to reflect changes in the accounting 
policies applied in 2007.

2.2.1. Consolidated income statements

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Sales of goods and services 19,833 20,229 38,901

Sales financing revenues 729 711 1,431

Revenues (note 4) 20,562 20,940 40,332

Cost of goods and services sold (15,892) (16,202) (31,343)

Cost of sales financing (522) (474) (985)

Research and development expenses (note 5) (907) (1,021) (1,963)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,519) (2,651) (4,978)

Operating margin 722 592 1,063

Other operating income and expenses (note 6) (33) 57 (186)

Operating income 689 649 877

Net interest income (expense) (60) (76) (110)

Interest income 132 102 223

Interest expenses (192) (178) (333)

Other financial income and expenses, net (52) 40 171

Financial expense (note 7) (112) (36) 61

Share in net income (loss) of associates 837 1,212 2,277

Nissan (note 11) 615 1,013 1,888

Other associates (note 12) 222 199 389

Pre-tax income 1,414 1,825 3,215

Current and deferred taxes (note 8) (97) (166) (255)

nET InCOmE 1,317 1,659 2,960

Net income - minority interests’ share 36 32 74

Net income - Renault share 1,281 1,627 2,886

Earnings per share (1) in € (note 9) 4.96 6.34 11.23

Diluted earnings per share (1) in € (note 9) 4.88 6.26 11.10

Number of shares outstanding (in thousands) (note 9)

for earnings per share 258,548 256,579 256,994

for diluted earnings per share 262,423 259,869 260,090

(1) Net income - Renault share divided by number of shares stated.
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2.2.2. Consolidated balance sheets

ASSETS - € million June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

non-current assets
Intangible assets 3,745 3,422
Property, plant and equipment (note 10) 12,898 13,166
Investments in associates 12,963 12,958

Nissan (note 11) 10,976 10,777
Other associates (note12) 1,987 2,181

Non-current financial assets (note 14) 544 563
Deferred tax assets 230 313
Other non-current assets 312 376

TOTAL nOn-CURREnT ASSETS 30,692 30,798

Current assets
Inventories (note 13) 5,775 5,309
Sales financing receivables 20,200 20,360
Automobile receivables 2,467 2,102
Current financial assets (note 14) 2,853 2,229 
Other current assets 2,167 2,043
Cash and cash equivalents 6,518 6,010

TOTAL CURREnT ASSETS 39,980 38,053

TOTAL ASSETS 70,672 68,851

ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY AnD LIAbILITIES - € million June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 1,086 1,086
Share premium 3,453 3,453
Treasury shares (311) (373)
Revaluation of financial instruments 111 87
Translation adjustment (296) (262)
Other reserves 15,884 13,711
Net income - Renault share 1,281 2,886

Shareholders’ equity - Renault share 21,208 20,588
Shareholders’ equity - minority interests’ share 496 483

TOTAL ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY (nOTE 15) 21,704 21,071

non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 181 251
Provisions - long-term (note 16) 1,778 1,847
Non-current financial liabilities (note 17) 5,824 5,430
Other non-current liabilities 537 428

TOTAL nOn-CURREnT LIAbILITIES 8,320 7,956

Current liabilities
Provisions - short-term (note 16) 956 1,053
Current financial liabilities (note 17) 3,236 3,715
Sales financing debts (note 17) 21,394 21,212
Trade payables 8,448 7,384
Current tax liability 142 121
Other current liabilities 6,472 6,339

TOTAL CURREnT LIAbILITIES 40,648 39,824

TOTAL ShAREhOLDERS’ EqUITy AnD LIABILITIES 70,672 68,851
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2.2.3. Consolidated shareholders’ equity

A. Statement of income and expenses for the period

All amounts are reported net of taxes.

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

nET InCOmE FOR ThE PERIOD 1,317 1,659 2,960

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans (1) 57 26 21

Translation adjustment on foreign activities (1) (2) (32) (469) (842)

Renault share (34) (444) (824)

Minority interests’ share 2 (25) (18)

Fair value adjustments on cash flow hedging instruments (1) 19 97 91

Changes in fair value recorded in shareholders’ equity 3 105 90

Changes in fair value transferred to net income for the period (3) 16 (8) 1

Fair value adjustments on available-for-sale financial assets (1) 5 77 (33)

Changes in fair value recorded in shareholders’ equity 3 77 (5)

Changes in fair value transferred to net income for the period (3) 2 - (28)

InCOmE AnD EXPEnSES RECORDED In ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY 49 (269) (763)

TOTAL InCOME AnD EXPEnSES FOR ThE PERIOD 1,366 1,390 2,197

Renault share 1,328 1,383 2,141

Minority interests’ share 38 7 56

(1) Associates’ share

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Actuarial gains and losses 28 28 77

Translation adjustments on foreign activities (304) (529) (1,189)

Cash flow hedges (3) 32 23

Available-for-sale financial assets 4 53 6

(2)  Including €188 million for the partial hedge of the investment in Nissan for the first half of 2007 (€126 million for first half 2006  

and €351 million for the full year 2006)
(3) Details of the amount transferred to income 

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Operating margin 25 (12) 1

Other operating income and expenses - - -

Financial expense 2 - (43)

Current and deferred taxes (9) 4 15

Total transferred to net income 18 (8) (27)



29

Earnings Report - Renault 2007

Chapter 2Financial statements
B. Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

€ million

Number 
of shares 

(thousand)

Share 
capital

Share  
premium

Treasury 
shares

Reva- 
luation  

of 
financial  

instru- 
ments

Trans- 
lation  

adjus- 
tment

Reserves Net 
income 

- Renault 
share

Share- 
holders’  

equity  
(Renault  

share)

Share- 
holders’  

equity  
(minority  
interests)

Total  
share- 

holders’ 
equity

Balance at  
Dec. 31, 2005 284,937 1,086 3,453 (456) 29 562 10,988 3,367 19,029 463 19,492

Net income - 
1st half-year 2006 - - - - - - - 1,627 1,627 32 1,659

Income and 
expenses recorded 
in shareholders’ 
equity - - - - 174 (444) 26 - (244) (25) (269)

Total income  
and expenses  
for the period - - - - 174 (444) 26 1,627 1,383 7 1,390

Allocation of  
2005 net income - - - - - - 3,367 (3,367) - - -

Dividends - - - - - - (617) - (617) (17) (634)

Cost of stock 
option plans - - - - - - 31 - 31 - 31

(Acquisitions) /  
diposals of 
treasury shares - - - 53 - - - - 53 - 53

Impact of changes 
in the scope of 
consolidation and 
capital increases (1) - - - - - - (2) - (2) (30) (32)

Balance at  
June 30, 2006 284,937 1,086 3,453 (403) 203 118 13,793 1,627 19,877 423 20,300

Net income - 
2nd half-year 2006 - - - - - - - 1,259 1,259 42 1,301

Income and 
expenses recorded 
in shareholders’ 
equity - - - - (116) (380) (5) - (501) 7 (494)

Total income  
and expenses  
for the period - - - - (116) (380) (5) 1,259 758 49 807

Dividends - - - - - - - - - (1) (1)

Cost of stock 
option plans - - - - - - 24 - 24 - 24

(Acquisitions) /  
diposals of 
treasury shares - - - 30 - - - - 30 - 30

Impact of changes 
in the scope of 
consolidation and 
capital increases (1) - - - - - - (101) - (101) 12 (89)

Balance at  
Dec. 31, 2006 284,937 1,086 3,453 (373) 87 (262) 13,711 2,886 20,588 483 21,071

(1)  The impact of changes in the scope of consolidation on the Renault share of shareholders’ equity result from the treatment applied 
to acquisitions of minority interests and put options for buyouts of minority shareholdings in controlled companies.
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€ million

Number 
of shares 

(thousand)

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Treasury 
shares

Reva- 
luation  

of 
financial 

 instru- 
ments

Trans- 
lation  

adjus- 
tment

Reserves Net 
income 

- Renault 
share

Share- 
holders’  

equity  
(Renault  

share)

Share- 
holders’  

equity  
(minority 
interests)

Total  
share- 

holders’  
equity

Balance at  
Dec. 31, 2006 284,937 1,086 3,453 (373) 87 (262) 13,711 2,886 20,588 483 21,071

Net income -  
1st half-year 2007 - - - - - - - 1,281 1,281 36 1,317

Income and 
expenses recorded 
in shareholders’ 
equity - - - - 24 (34) 57 - 47 2 49

Total income  
and expenses 
for the period - - - - 24 (34) 57 1,281 1,328 38 1,366

Allocation of  
2006 net income - - - - - - 2,886 (2,886) - - -

Dividends - - - - - - (803) - (803) (48) (851)

Cost of stock 
option plans - - - - - - 35 - 35 - 35

(Acquisitions) /  
diposals of 
treasury shares - - - 62 - - - - 62 - 62

Impact of changes 
in the scope of 
consolidation and 
capital increases (1) - - - - - - (2) - (2) 23 21

Balance at  
June 30, 2007 284,937 1,086 3,453 (311) 111 (296) 15,884 1,281 21,208 496 21,704

(1)  The impact of changes in the scope of consolidation on the Renault share of shareholders’ equity result from the treatment applied 
to acquisitions of minority interests and put options for buyouts of minority shareholdings in controlled companies.

Details of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity are given in note �5.
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2.2.4. Consolidated statements of cash flows

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

net income 1,317 1,659 2,960

Cancellation of unrealised income and expenses:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,512 1,519 2,835

Share in net income (loss) of associates (837) (1,212) (2,277)

Dividends received from associates 687 377 602

Other unrealised income and expenses (note 18) (1) (38) (236) (430)

Cash flow 2,641 2,107 3,690

Financing for final customers (5,756) (6,306) (12,008)

Customer repayments 5,881 6,154 12,300

Net change in renewable dealer financing 45 187 231

Decrease (increase) in sales financing receivables 170 35 523

Bond issuance by the Sales financing division 500 - 18

Bond redemption by the Sales financing division (5) (851) (874)

Net change in other sales financing debts (289) 47 (1,027)

Net change in other securities and loans of the Sales financing division (525) 26 (58)

net change in sales financing financial assets and debts (319) (778) (1,941)

Decrease (increase) in working capital (note 18) (1) 422 715 314

CASh FLOWS FROm OPERATInG ACTIVITIES 2,914 2,079 2,586

Capital expenditure (note 18) (2,284) (2,283) (4,644)

Acquisitions of investments, net of cash acquired (3) (51) (30)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangibles 498 560 1,152

Disposals of investments, net of cash acquired, and other 63 47 55

Net decrease (increase) in other securities and loans of the Automobile division 244 (18) 423

CASh FLOWS FROm InVESTInG ACTIVITIES (1,482) (1,745) (3,044)

Transactions with minority shareholders (2) 22 (49) (131)

Dividends paid to parent company shareholders (note 15) (863) (664) (664)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (48) (17) (22)

Purchases/sales of treasury shares 62 53 85

Cash flows with shareholders (827) (677) (732)

Bond issuance by the Automobile division 588 500 851

Bond redemption by the Automobile division (78) (169) (928)

Net increase (decrease) in other financial liabilities of the Automobile division (604) 415 1,069

net change in financial assets and liabilities of the Automobile division (94) 746 992

CASh FLOWS FROm FInAnCInG ACTIVITIES (921) 69 260

InCREASE (DECREASE) In CASh AnD CASh EqUIVALEnTS 511 403 (198)

(1)  Other unrealised income and expenses include the change in net allocations to long-term and short-term provisions. The short-term portion 
was previously included in the decrease (increase) in working capital requirements (see note 2).

(2) Via capital increases or capital reductions and acquisitions of additional investments in controlled companies.

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Cash and cash equivalents: opening balance 6,010 6,151 6,151

Increase (decrease) 511 403 (198)

Effect of changes in exchange rate and other changes (3) 60 57

Cash and cash equivalents: closing balance 6,518 6,614 6,010
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2.2.5. Segment information

A. Consolidated income statements by division

€ million Automobile
Sales  

financing
Interdivision  

transactions (1)
Consoli- 

dated total

h1 2007

External sales (note 4) 19,567 995 - 20,562

Interdivision sales (1) (113) 151 (38) -

Revenues 19,454 1,146 (38) 20,562

Operating margin 441 267 14 722

Operating income 419 256 14 689

h1 2006

External sales (note 4) 19,953 987 - 20,940

Interdivision sales (1) (9) 112 (103) -

Revenues 19,944 1,099 (103) 20,940

Operating margin 297 269 26 592

Operating income 354 269 26 649

YEAR 2006

External sales (note 4) 38,409 1,923 - 40,332

Interdivision sales (1) (203) 270 (67) -

Revenues 38,206 2,193 (67) 40,332

Operating margin 486 492 85 1,063

Operating income 303 489 85 877

(1) Interdivision transactions are carried out under near-market conditions.

Automobile
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B. Consolidated balance sheets by division

B1. Consolidated balance sheets by division - June 30, 2007

ASSETS - € million Automobile
Sales  

financing
Interdivision  

transactions (1)
Consoli- 

dated total

non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 16,336 345 (38) 16,643

Investments in associates 12,945 18 12,963

Non-current financial assets - investments  
in non-controlled entities 2,366 3 (2,312) 57

Non-current financial assets - other securities,  
loans and derivatives on financing operations  
of the Automobile division

487 487

Deferred tax assets and other non-current assets 440 105 (3) 542

TOTAL nOn-CURREnT ASSETS 32,574 471 (2,353) 30,692

Current assets

Inventories 5,768 7 5,775

Customer receivables 2,623 20,845 (801) 22,667

Current financial assets 1,777 1,666 (590) 2,853

Other current assets 1,659 2,146 (1,638) 2,167

Cash and cash equivalents 5,833 718 (33) 6,518

TOTAL CURREnT ASSETS 17,660 25,382 (3,062) 39,980

TOTAL ASSETS 50,234 25,853 (5,415) 70,672

ShAREhOLDERS’  
EQUITY AnD LIAbILITIES - € million Automobile

Sales  
financing

Interdivision  
transactions (1)

Consoli- 
dated total

ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY 21,625 2,309 (2,230) 21,704

non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities and long-term provisions 1,636 267 56 1,959

Non-current financial liabilities 5,552 272 5,824

Other non-current liabilities 475 62 537

TOTAL nOn-CURREnT LIAbILITIES 7,663 601 56 8,320

Current liabilities

Short-term provisions 899 57 956

Current financial liabilities 4,098 (862) 3,236

Trade payables and Sales financing debts 8,492 21,965 (615) 29,842

Other current liabilities and current tax liability 7,457 921 (1,764) 6,614

TOTAL CURREnT LIAbILITIES 20,946 22,943 (3,241) 40,648

TOTAL ShAREhOLDERS’  
EqUITy AnD LIABILITIES 50,234 25,853 (5,415) 70,672

(1) Interdivision transactions are carried out under near-market conditions.
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B2. Consolidated balance sheets by division - Dec. 31, 2006

ASSETS - € million Automobile
Sales  

financing
Interdivision  

transactions (1)
Consoli- 

dated total

non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 16,263 371 (46) 16,588

Investments in associates 12,943 15 - 12,958

Non-current financial assets - investments  
in non-controlled entities 2,401 2 (2,367) 36

Non-current financial assets - other securities,  
loans and derivatives on financing operations  
of the Automobile division

527 - - 527

Deferred tax assets and other non-current assets 588 103 (2) 689

TOTAL nOn-CURREnT ASSETS 32,722 491 (2,415) 30,798

Current assets

Inventories 5,301 8 - 5,309

Customer receivables 2,210 20,869 (617) 22,462

Current financial assets 1,678 1,171 (620) 2,229

Other current assets 1,633 1,957 (1,547) 2,043

Cash and cash equivalents 4,963 1,077 (30) 6,010

TOTAL CURREnT ASSETS 15,785 25,082 (2,814) 38,053

TOTAL ASSETS 48,507 25,573 (5,229) 68,851

ShAREhOLDERS’  
EQUITY AnD LIAbILITIES - € million Automobile

Sales  
financing

Interdivision  
transactions (1)

Consoli- 
dated total

ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY 21,000 2,366 (2,295) 21,071

non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities and long-term provisions 1,776 268 54 2,098

Non-current financial liabilities 5,159 271 - 5,430

Other non-current liabilities 371 57 - 428

TOTAL nOn-CURREnT LIAbILITIES 7,306 596 54 7,956

Current liabilities

Short-term provisions 994 59 - 1,053

Current financial liabilities 4,423 (708) 3,715

Trade payables and Sales financing debts 7,487 21,786 (677) 28,596

Other current liabilities and current tax liability 7,297 766 (1,603) 6,460

TOTAL CURREnT LIAbILITIES 20,201 22,611 (2,988) 39,824

TOTAL ShAREhOLDERS’  
EqUITy AnD LIABILITIES 48,507 25,573 (5,229) 68,851

(1) Interdivision transactions are carried out under near-market conditions.
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C. Consolidated cash flow statements by division

€ million Automobile
Sales  

financing
Interdivision  

transactions (1)
Consoli- 

dated total

h1 2007

net income 1,384 174 (241) 1,317

Cancellation of unrealised income and expenses:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,483 47 (18) 1,512

Share in net income (loss) of associates (834) (3) - (837)

Dividends received from associates 687 687

Other unrealised income and expenses (2) (41) (1) 4 (38)

Cash flow 2,679 217 (255) 2,641

Decrease (increase) in sales financing receivables - 37 133 170

Net change in sales financing financial assets and debts - (308) (11) (319)

Decrease (increase) in working capital (2) 426 (25) 21 422

CASh FLOWS FROm OPERATInG ACTIVITIES 3,105 (79) (112) 2,914

Purchases of intangible assets (697) (1) - (698)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3) (1,518) (76) 8 (1,586)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment  
and intangibles (3) 449 49 - 498

Acquisition of investments, net of disposals and other 60 - - 60

Net decrease (increase) in other securities and loans  
of the Automobile division 250 - (6) 244

CASh FLOWS FROm InVESTInG ACTIVITIES (1,456) (28) 2 (1,482)

Cash flows with shareholders (827) (252) 252 (827)

Net change in financial assets and liabilities  
of the Automobile division 52 (146) (94)

CASh FLOWS FROm FInAnCInG ACTIVITIES (775) (252) 106 (921)

InCREASE (DECREASE) In CASh  
AnD CASh EqUIVALEnTS 874 (359) (4) 511

(1) Interdivision transactions are carried out under near-market conditions.
(2)  Other unrealised income and expenses include the change in net allocations to long-term and short-term provisions. The short-term portion 

was previously included in the decrease (increase) in working capital requirements (see note 2).
(3) Including impact of leased vehicles 

€ million Automobile
Sales 

financing
Group  

total

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (483) (65) (548)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 351 48 399
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€ million Automobile
Sales  

financing
Interdivision  

transactions (1)
Consoli- 

dated total

h1 2006 

net income 1,472 171 16 1, 659

Cancellation of unrealised income and expenses:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,520 29 (30) 1,519

Share in net income (loss) of associates (1,210) (2) - (1,212)

Dividends received from associates 377 - - 377

Other unrealised income and expenses (2) (235) (9) 8 (236)

Cash flow 1,924 189 (6) 2,107

Decrease (increase) in sales financing receivables - 30 5 35

Net change in sales financing financial assets and debts - (796) 18 (778)

Decrease (increase) in working capital (2) 585 129 1 715

CASh FLOWS FROm OPERATInG ACTIVITIES 2,509 (448) 18 2,079

Purchases of intangible assets (564) (1) - (565)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3) (1,676) (59) 17 (1,718)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment  
and intangibles (3) 445 115 - 560

Acquisition of investments, net of disposals and other (3) - (1) (4)

Net decrease (increase) in other securities and loans  
of the Automobile division (14) - (4) (18)

CASh FLOWS FROm InVESTInG ACTIVITIES (1,812) 55 12 (1,745)

Cash flows with shareholders (677) (1) 1 (677)

Net change in financial assets and liabilities  
of the Automobile division 781 - (35) 746

CASh FLOWS FROm FInAnCInG ACTIVITIES 104 (1) (34) 69

InCREASE (DECREASE) In CASh  
AnD CASh EqUIVALEnTS 801 (394) (4) 403

(1) Interdivision transactions are carried out under near-market conditions.
(2)  Other unrealised income and expenses include the change in net allocations to long-term and short-term provisions. The short-term portion 

was previously included in the decrease (increase) in working capital requirements (see note 2).
(3) Including impact of leased vehicles 

€ million Automobile
Sales 

financing
Group  

total

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (586) (38) (624)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 288 115 403
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€ million Automobile
Sales  

financing
Interdivision  

transactions (1)
Consoli- 

dated total

YEAR 2006

net income 2,603 312 45 2,960

Cancellation of unrealised income and expenses:

Depreciation and amortisation 2,817 86 (68) 2,835

Share in net income (loss) of associates (2,272) (5) - (2,277)

Dividends received from associates 602 - - 602

Other unrealised income and expenses (2) (487) 32 25 (430)

Cash flow 3,263 425 2 3,690

Decrease (increase) in sales financing receivables - 524 (1) 523

Net change in sales financing financial assets and debts - (1,935) (6) (1,941)

Decrease (increase) in working capital (2) 281 70 (37) 314

CASh FLOWS FROm OPERATInG ACTIVITIES 3,544 (916) (42) 2,586

Purchases of intangible assets (1,129) (3) - (1,132)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3) (3,340) (193) 21 (3,512)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment  
and intangibles (3) 884 268 - 1,152

Acquisition of investments, net of disposals and other 23 2 - 25

Net decrease (increase) in other securities and loans  
of the Automobile division 421 - 2 423

CASh FLOWS FROm InVESTInG ACTIVITIES (3,141) 74 23 (3,044)

Cash flows with shareholders (719) (14) 1 (732)

Net change in financial assets and liabilities  
of the Automobile division 966 - 26 992

CASh FLOWS FROm FInAnCInG ACTIVITIES 247 (14) 27 260

InCREASE (DECREASE) In CASh  
AnD CASh EqUIVALEnTS 650 (856) 8 (198)

(1) Interdivision transactions are carried out under near-market conditions.
(2)  Other unrealised income and expenses include the change in net allocations to long-term and short-term provisions. The short-term portion 

was previously included in the decrease (increase) in working capital requirements (see note 2).
(3) Including impact of leased vehicles 

€ million Automobile
Sales 

financing
Group  

total

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (969) (165) (1,134)

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 685 268 953
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2.2.6. Notes to the condensed 
consolidated financial statements 

I - Accounting policies and scope  
of consolidation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38

� - Approval of the financial statements . . . . . . . . . . �8

2 - Accounting policies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . �8

� - Changes in the scope of consolidation . . . . . . . . �9

II - Income statement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39

4 - Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . �9

5 - Research and development expenses . . . . . . . . . 40

6 - Other operating income and expenses . . . . . . . . 40

7 - Financial expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4�

8 - Current and deferred taxes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4�

9 - Basic and diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . 4�

III - Balance sheet . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42

�0 - Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42

�� - Investment in Nissan. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42

�2 -  Investments in other associates . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44

�� - Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44

�4 - Financial assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45

�5 - Shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45

�6 - Provisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46

�7 -  Financial liabilities and sales  
financing debts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47

IV - Cash flows and other information . . . . . . . . . . . 48

�8 - Cash flows . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48

�9 -  Off-balance sheet commitments  
and contingent liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48

20 - Related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49

2� - Subsequent events . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49

I - ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SCOPE 
OF CONSOLIDATION

1 - Approval of the financial statements

The Renault group’s half-year 2007 consolidated 
financial statements were prepared by the Board of 
Directors on July 25, 2007. 

2 - Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements at December 
��, 2006 were prepared under the IFRS (International 
Financial Reporting Standards) issued by the IASB 
( International Accounting Standards Board) at 
December ��, 2006 and adopted by the European 
Union at the closing date. 

The accounting policies used in preparing the 
consolidated half-year financial statements at June �0, 
2007 are compliant with IAS �4 “Interim financial 
reporting” and, with the exception of the changes 
stated below, are identical to those applied in the 
financial statements for the year ended December ��, 
2006. These financial statements do not contain all 
the information required for preparation of the annual 
consolidated financial statements, and should be read 
in conjunction with the annual financial statements at 
December ��, 2006.

Changes in accounting policies

These changes in accounting policies will apply to the 
2007 half-year financial statements and the comparative 
information reported.

The Renault group has opted in 2007 to recognise 
actuarial gains and losses in equity as allowed 
by IAS �9. This change of policy has a negative 
impact of €74 million on equity at June �0, 2007 
(€��6 million at June �0, 2006 and €�27 million at 
December ��, 2006).

The Group has also reviewed its accounting treatment 
of certain components of revenues. 

•  Sales of raw materials, parts and engines 
to subcontractors are now considered as a 
consignment of inventories at subcontractors’ 
premises, and are no longer included in sales.  
The inventories concerned remain in Group assets 
until the vehicle is sold to the final customer.  
This change in presentation results in a €�45 million 
reduction in revenues for the first half of 2007  
(€248 million for first half 2006 and €498 million  
for the full year 2006). There is no impact on 
operating margin.

•  Sales of spare parts to dealers to be reinvoiced to 
the Group through warranty costs are no longer 
included in sales, but deducted from the cost of 
sales. This change in presentation results in a €29� 
million reduction in revenues for the first half of 
2007 (€��9 million for first half 2006 and €658 
million for the full year 2006). There is no impact on 
operating margin.

•  The cost of promotional campaigns offering reduced-
interest loans to end-users, previously included 
in selling, general and administrative expenses, 
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is now charged to sales revenues. This change in 
presentation results in a €2� million reduction in 
revenues for the first half of 2007 (€20 million for 
first half 2006 and €40 million for the full year 2006). 
There is no impact on operating margin.

In the statements of cash flows, net allocations to 
short-term provisions are now included with net 
allocations to long-term provisions in other unrealised 
income and expenses. This change in presentation 
has a negative impact of €��7 million on cash flow 
for first half 2007 (€�7� million for first half 2006 
and €62� million for the full year 2006). As the effect 
of this reclassification is reflected in the change in 
working capital, cash flows from operating activities 
were unaffected.

The following new standards and interpretations, 
which came into force at January �, 2007 and were 
adopted by regulations published in the Official 
Journal of the EU at June �0, 2007, have also been 
applied, but have no significant impact on the 
financial information reported:

•  IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and 
the amendment to IAS � concerning disclosures 
on capital: these standards affect presentation 
formats and therefore have no impact on the 
financial statements at June �0, 2007 which are 
condensed financial statements;

•  IFRIC 7, “Applying the Restatement Approach under 
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies, IFRIC 8, “Scope of IFRS 2 - Share-
based payment”, IFRIC 9, “Reassessment of 
Embedded Derivatives” and IFRIC �0, “Interim 
Financial Reporting and Impairment”: these 
interpretations have no impact on the financial 
statements at June �0, 2007.

3 - Changes in the scope of consolidation

A - Changes in the first half of 2007

Somaca (Société Marocaine de Construction) was 
first consolidated at January �, 2007. Through 
successive acquisitions of shares between 200� and 
2006, Renault brought its investment in the company 
to 80%. The Somaca plant is based in Casablanca, 
Morocco, and its principal business is assembly of 
the Logan.

Under an agreement with the Japanese group NTN, 
Renault sold �5% of the capital of SNR on March 
��, 2007. In application of this agreement, Renault 
no longer exercises any control over SNR, and 
consequently its residual holding in the company is 
accounted for by the equity method. 

B - Changes in the year 2006

Renault Pars (Iran) has been consolidated since 
January �, 2006. This company is held 5�% by Renault 
and 49% by the Iranian company AID co, an entity set 
up by IDRO (Industrial Development & Renovation 
Organization, a state-owned Iranian body in charge 
of the automotive industry) and Iran’s two leading 
automakers, Iran Khodro and Saipa. 

At January �, 2006, 24 dealers in Europe (located in 
Belgium, the Czech republic, Luxembourg, Poland, 
Portugal, and Switzerland) were also consolidated for 
the first time.

Minority interests in the holding company COFAL 
were acquired at the end of 2006. The main effect 
of this operation was to bring Renault’s percentage 
ownership of Renault do Brasil and Renault Argentina 
to �00%.

II - INCOME STATEMENT

4 - Revenues

A - 1st half 2006 revenues applying 1st half 2007 Group structure and methods

€ million Automobile
Sales 

financing Total

First half 2006 revenues as published 20,560 987 21,547

Changes of method (1) (607) - (607)

Changes in scope of consolidation (82) (2) (84)

First half 2006 revenues applying first half 2007 Group structure  
and methods 19,871 985 20,856

First half 2007 revenues 19,567 995 20,562

(1)  Changes of accounting method concern transactions related to subcontracting agreements, sales of spare parts in connection with customer 
warranties and the cost of promotional campaigns offering reduced-interest loans. A more detailed description of these changes is contained 
in note 2.
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B - Breakdown of revenues

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Sales of goods 18,780 19,240 36,814

Sales of services 1,053 989 2,087

Sales of goods and services 19,833 20,229 38,901

Income on customer financing 510 499 997

Income on leasing and similar operations 219 212 434

Sales financing revenues 729 711 1,431

Revenues 20,562 20,940 40,332

C - Breakdown of revenues by geographic area

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

France 6,883 7,313 13,643

Europe 8,886 9,424 17,950

Euromed 2,001 1,839 3,733

Asia-Africa 1,350 1,294 2,689

America 1,442 1,070 2,317

 Total revenues 20,562 20,940 40,332

In the table above, consolidated revenues are presented 
by location of customers.

The 5 Regions shown are the new geographic areas 
introduced under the Renault Commitment 2009 growth 
plan. 

5 - Research and development expenses

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Research and development expenses (1,222) (1,227) (2,400)

Capitalised development expenses 666 543 1,091

Amortisation of capitalised development expenses (351) (337) (654)

Total research and development expenses included in income (907) (1,021) (1,963)

Capitalised development expenses mainly comprise 
the cost of prototypes, the cost of studies invoiced by 

external firms, the cost of personnel assigned to the 
project and a share of overheads.

6 - Other operating income and expenses

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Restructuring and workforce adjustment costs and provisions (61) (36) (241)

Gains and losses on disposal of businesses and operating entities (18) (24) (59)

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets (except vehicle sales) 48 120 109

Unusual items (2) (3) 5

Total (33) 57 (186)

Most of the gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets in first half 2007 
and in 2006 results from sales of land (in Spain and 
France).

Restructuring costs and workforce adjustment costs 
and provision arise principally from the implementation 
of restructuring measures in certain businesses, and 
adjustment of workforce levels, particularly in Spain 
in 2006.
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7 - Financial expense

Other financial income and expenses include a charge 
of €�04 million for first half 2007 (compared to a profit 
of €4 million for first half 2006) resulting from changes 
in the fair value of Renault SA redeemable shares.

8 - Current and deferred taxes

The effective tax rate (excluding the impact of 
Renault’s shares in net income of associates) is �6.8% 
for the first half of 2007, compared to 27.�% in the 
first half of 2006, largely due to an Italian tax credit 
refund and the continued improvement in earnings 
prospects in Argentina and Brazil. 

The deferred tax liability booked in respect of the 
difference between the value in consolidation of 

associates and their tax value only represents 
0.4 percentage point of the effective tax rate for the 
first half of 2007 (2.4 points in first half 2006).

9 - Basic and diluted earnings per share

Renault’s basic earnings per share and diluted 
earnings per share are calculated by dividing Renault’s 
share of net income (€�,28� million for first half 2007 
and €�,627 million for first half 2006) by the relevant 
number of shares.

The number of shares used to calculate the basic 
earnings per share is the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares in circulation during the period, 
i.e. after neutralisation of treasury shares and Renault 
shares held by Nissan.

in thousands of shares H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Shares in circulation 284,937 284,937 284,937

Treasury shares (7,008) (8,879) (8,500)

Shares held by Nissan x Renault’s share in Nissan (19,381) (19,479) (19,443)

Number of shares used to calculate basic earnings per share 258,548 256,579 256,994

The number of shares used to calculate the diluted 
earnings per share is the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares potentially in circulation during the 

period, i.e. the number of shares used to calculate the 
basic earnings per share plus the number of dilutive 
stock options.

in thousands of shares H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Number of shares used to calculate basic earnings per share 258,548 256,579 256,994

Number of dilutive stock options 3,875 3,290 3,096

Number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 262,423 259,869 260,090
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III - BALANCE SHEET 

10 - Property, plant and equipment

€ million Gross value
Depreciation and 

impairment Net value

Value at December 31, 2006 30,203 (17,037) 13,166

Acquisitions/(depreciation) 1,365 (1,139) 226

(Disposals)/reversals (976) 522 (454)

Translation adjustment 143 (47) 96

Change in scope of consolidation and other (351) 215 (136)

Value at June 30, 2007 30,384 (17,486) 12,898

11 - Investment in nissan

A. Nissan consolidation method

Renault is still considered to exercise significant 
influence in Nissan, and therefore uses the equity 
method to include its investment in Nissan in the 
consolidation.

B. Nissan consolidated financial statements 
included under the equity method in the Renault 
consolidation

The Nissan accounts included under the equity 
method in Renault’s financial statements are Nissan’s 
consolidated accounts published in compliance with 
Japanese accounting standards (as Nissan is listed 

on the Tokyo Stock Exchange), after adjustments for 
the requirements of the Renault consolidation.

Following Nissan’s equity transactions in the first 
half of 2007, Nissan held 2.�% of its own shares at 
June �0, 2007, compared to 2.�% at December ��, 
2006. Consequently, Renault’s percentage interest 
in Nissan was 45.4% at June �0, 2007, compared to 
45.�% at December ��, 2006.

The �-month difference in Nissan’s consolidation 
of certain entities in its group (mainly in Europe and 
Mexico) has been absorbed over the first half-year 
of 2007. This has given rise to a €�7 million profit, 
included in Nissan’s contribution to Renault’s net 
income for first half 2007.

C. Changes in the investment in Nissan

€ million

Share in net assets Net  
goodwill

Total

Before  
neutra- 
lisation 

 (see right)

Neutralisation of 
44.3% of Nissan’s 

investment in 
Renault (1)

Net

At December 31, 2006 11,098 (962) 10,136 641 10,777

First half 2007 net income 615 - 615 - 615

Dividend distributed (207) - (207) - (207)

Translation adjustment (242) - (242) (40) (282)

Other changes (2) 70 - 70 3 73

At June 30, 2007 11,334 (962) 10,372 604 10,976
(1) At June 30, 2007, Nissan held 15% of Renault.
(2)  Other changes include Renault dividends received by Nissan, the change in actuarial gains and losses on pension obligations, the change 

in the financial instruments revaluation reserve and changes in Nissan treasury shares.
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D. Changes in Nissan equity restated for the purposes of the Renault consolidation

in billions of yen
Dec. 31, 

2006

Net 
income 
for first 

half 
2007

Divi- 
dends

Tran- 
slation  
adjust- 

ment
Other 

changes (1)
June 30, 

2007

Shareholders’ equity -  
Nissan share under Japanese GAAP 3,430 174 (70) 175 5 3,714

Restatements for Renault group requirements:

Restatement of fixed assets 458 (26) 432

Provision for pension and  
other long-term employee benefit obligations (2) (123) 1 (2) (3) (127)

Capitalisation of development expenses 497 31 1 529

Differed taxes and other restatements (417) 36 (5) (16) 14 (388)

Net assets restated for Renault group requirements 3,845 216 (75) 158 16 4,160

€ million

Net assets restated for Renault group requirements 24,499 1,357 (458) (534) 101 24,965

Renault’s share 45.3% 45.4%

(before neutralisation described below) 11,098 615 (207) (242) 70 11,334

Neutralisation of Nissan’s investment in Renault (3)  (962) (962)

Renault’s share in the net assets of nissan 10,136 615 (207) (242) 70 10,372

(1)  “Other changes” include Renault dividends received by Nissan, the change in the financial instruments revaluation reserve and changes 
in Nissan treasury shares.

(2) Including actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity (note 2)
(3) At June 30, 2007, Nissan held 15% of Renault.

E. Nissan net income under Japanese GAAP

Since Nissan’s financial year ends at March ��,  
the Nissan net income included in the first half 2007 

Renault consolidation is the sum of Nissan’s net 
income for the final quarter of its 2006 financial year 
and the first quarter of its 2007 financial year.

January to March 2007

Final quarter of Nissan’s 2006 
financial year in Japan

April to June 2007

First quarter of Nissan’s 2007 
financial year in Japan

January to June 2007

Reference period for Renault’s 
first half 2007 consolidated 

financial statements

in billions of yen € million (�) in billions of yen € million (�) in billions of yen € million (�)

Net income -  
Nissan share 82 525 92 567 174 1,092

(1) converted at the average exchange rate for each quarter.

F. Renault - Nissan cooperation

Renault and Nissan follow joint strategies for vehicle 
and part development, purchasing, and production 
and distribution resources.

The main transactions described in the 2006 annual 
report continued in 2007. 

The first half-year of 2007 saw new transactions 
between the two Groups. Since March 2007, 
the Renault group’s Curitiba plant in Brazil has 
manufactured approximately 5,�00 Nissan-badged 

Logans for sale by Nissan on the Mexican market, 
generating revenues of €�� million. Renault’s output 
of Nissan-badged Logans for the full year 2007 is 
expected to total some �9,000 vehicles. 

Similarly, the Renault group started production of 
engines common to the Alliance at its Cléon plant, 
delivered to Nissan in Japan and in the United 
Kingdom for use in Nissan Qashqai and XTrail 
vehicles. The resulting revenues total €65 million for 
first half 2007, and production for the full year should 
reach approximately 6�,000 units. 
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Total sales by Renault to Nissan and purchases 
by Renault from Nissan during the first half of 
2007 amounted to an estimated €870 million and 
€750 million respectively.

The joint policies for purchasing and other 
administrative functions such as information systems 
departments are reflected directly in the Renault and 
Nissan financial statements, and therefore generate 
no financial exchanges between the two Groups.

12 - Investments in other associates

Details of other investments in other associates are as 
follows:

•  Balance sheet value: €�,987 million at June �0, 2007 
(€2,�8� million at December ��, 2006),

•  Renault’s share in the net income of other associates: 
€222 million for first half 2007 (€�99 million for first 
half 2006 and €�89 million for the year 2006).

Most of these amounts relate to the investment in 
AB Volvo, accounted for under the equity method.

A. Changes in the value of Renault’s investment in AB Volvo

€ million
Share in net 

assets
Net  

goodwill Total

At December 31, 2006 1,998 42 2,040

First half 2007 net income 181 181

Dividend distributed (477) (477)

Repurchase of AB Volvo own shares - -

Translation adjustment and revaluation of financial instruments (20) (1) (21)

At June 30, 2007 1,682 41 1,723

AB Volvo owned 4.8% of its own shares at June �0, 2007 
(4.9% at December ��, 2006). Renault’s investment in 

AB Volvo stood at 2�.8% at June �0, 2007, unchanged 
from December ��, 2006.

B. Changes in AB Volvo equity restated for the purposes of the Renault consolidation

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2006
Net  

income Dividends
Other 

changes 
June 30, 

2007

Shareholders’ equity - AB Volvo share 9,613 831 (2,185) (110) 8,149

Restatements for Renault group requirements (451) 11 (440)

Net assets restated for Renault group  
requirements

9,162 831 (2,185) (99) 7,709

Renault’s share in the net assets of AB Volvo 1,998 181 (477) (20) 1,682

The restatements applied for Renault group 
requirements mainly concern cancellation of goodwill 
booked in AB Volvo’s accounts when AB Volvo was 

acquired by Renault, and recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses in equity.

13 - Inventories

€ million June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Raw materials and supplies 1,074 1,052

Work-in-progress 360 370

Finished products - automobile 4,341 3,887

Inventories, net 5,775 5,309

Inventories, gross 6,259 5,785

Impairment (484) (476)
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14 - Financial assets

Breakdown of financial assets by nature

€ million

June 30, 2007 December 31, 2006

Non-current Current Non-current Current

Investments in non-controlled entities 57 - 36 -

Other securities 1 355 1 312

Loans 79 1,928 78 1,575

Derivative assets on financing operations  
by the Automobile division 

407 570 448 342

Total 544 2,853 563 2,229

Gross value 598 2,854 600 2,230

Impairment (54) (1) (37) (1)

The current portion of other securities corresponds to 
securities that cannot be classified as cash equivalents, 
mainly maturing more than � months after acquisition. 

Loans essentially comprise short-term investments 
of Automobile division cash surpluses with financial 
institutions.

15 - Shareholders’ equity

A. Share capital

The total number of ordinary shares issued and fully 
paid-up at June �0, 2007 was 284,9�7 thousand, with 
par value of €�.8� per share (the total number and par 
value are unchanged from December ��, 2006).

Treasury shares do not bear dividends. They accounted 
for 2.20% of Renault’s share capital at June �0, 2007 
(2.70% at December ��, 2006).

B. Distributions

At the General and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 
of May 2, 2007, it was decided to distribute €�.�0 per 
share or €86� million in dividends (compared to €2.40 
per share or €664 million in 2006).

After elimination of dividends received by Nissan in 
proportion to Renault’s interest in Nissan, the dividend 
distribution recorded in shareholders’ equity amounted 
to €80� million in first half 2007 (€6�7 million in 2006).

C. Stock option and share attribution plans

Since October �996, the Board of Directors has 
periodically granted stock options to Group executives 
and managers, with prices and exercise periods specific 
to each plan. Plans introduced since 2006 include 
service and performance conditions. 

chAngeS in the number of Stock optionS held by perSonnel

First half 2007

Number Weighted average 
exercise price (€)

Weighted average 
share price at grant / 

exercise dates (€)

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 16,539,634 66

Granted 1,163,300 94 94

Exercised (1,399,160) 46 97

Expired - - -

Outstanding at June 30, 2007 16,303,774 70

D. Share-based payments

Share-based payments exclusively concern stock 
options awarded to personnel. These generated 

personnel expenses of €�2 million in first half 2007 
(€4� million for year 2006).
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Stock option and share attribution plan values

The valuation model used is unchanged from previous 
financial statements. 

In compliance with the standard’s transitional measures, 
only plans beginning after November 7, 2002 are valued 
and recorded as described above.

The plans have been valued as follows:

Plan Initial 
value 
(000s  
of €)

Unit fair 
value 

Expense 
for H1 

2007  
(€ million)

Expense 
for H1 

2006  
(€  

million)

Share 
price 

 at grant 
date  

(€)

Volatility Interest 
rate 

Exercise 
price (€)

Duration 
of  

option (1)

Dividend 
per share 

(€)

Plan 9 32,820 18.15 (4) (4) 55.40 33.0% 3.79% 53.36 4-8 years 1.15

Plan 10 39,870 19.75 (5) (5) 69.05 27.0% 3.71% 66.03 4-8 years 1.40

Plan 11 22,480 14.65 (3) (3) 72.45 23.5% 2.68% 72.98 4-8 years 1.80

Plan 12 (2) 17,324 15.42 (2) (1) 87.05 28.1% 3.90% 87.98 4-8 years 2.40 to 
4.50

Plan 13 (2) 36,634 15.59 (5) (1) 87.82 27.2% 3.85% 87.98 4-8 years 2.40 to 
4.50

Plan  
13bis (2)

74,666 69.86 (10) (1) 83.71 N/A 3.83%  N/A N/A 2.40 to 
4.50

Plan 14 (2) 26,066 14.14 (3) - 92.65 26.7% 3.88% 93.86 4-8 years 2.40 to 
4.50

Total 249,860 (32) (15)

(1) Period during which the option is not considered vested for tax purposes.
(2)  Options have been awarded at different dates. The information reported may correspond to weighted averages based on quantities awarded 

per attribution date.

16 - Provisions

A. Breakdown of provisions by nature

€ million June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Provisions (other than provisions for pension and other long-term employee  
obligations) 1,627 1,743

Provisions for restructuring and workforce adjustment costs 312 445
Provisions for warranty costs 798 735
Provisions for tax risks and litigation 219 222
Other provisions 298 341

Provisions for pension and other long-term employee benefit obligations 1,107 1,157

Total provisions 2,734 2,900

Provisions - long-term 1,778 1,847

Provisions - short-term 956 1,053

All known litigation in which Renault or Group companies 
are involved is examined at each closing. After seeking 

the opinion of legal advisors, any provisions deemed 
necessary are set aside to cover the estimated risk.



47

Earnings Report - Renault 2007

Chapter 2Financial statements
B. Changes in other provisions

€ million

Restruc- 
turing  

provisions

Warranty 
provisions

Tax risks 
and  

litigation 
provisions

Other 
provsions

Total

At December 31, 2006 445 735 222 341 1,743

Increases 33 365 8 69 475

Reversals of provisions for application (180) (290) (6) (60) (536)

Reversals of unused balance of provisions (1) (10) (17) (9) (37)

Changes in scope of consolidation - (3) - (23) (26)

Translation adjustments and other changes 15 1 12 (20) 8

At June 30, 2007 312 798 219 298 1,627

At June �0, 2007, other provisions included €70 million 
of provisions established in application of environ-
mental regulations (€8� million at December ��, 2006). 
These provisions principally concern environmental 

compliance costs for industrial land that the Group 
intends to sell (particularly on the Boulogne Billancourt 
site) and expenses related to the EU directive on end-
of-life vehicles. 

17 - Financial liabilities and sales financing debts

Breakdown by nature

€ million

June 30, 2007 December 31, 2006

Non- 
current Current Total

Non- 
current Current Total

Redeemable shares (Renault SA) 861 - 861 749 - 749

Bonds 3,954 618 4,572 3,575 618 4,193

Other debts represented by a certificate - - - - - -

Borrowings from credit institutions 191 1,351 1,542 346 1,508 1,854

Other interest-bearing borrowings 274 1,020 1,294 310 1,397 1,707

Derivative liabilities on financing operations 272 247 519 179 192 371

Total financial liabilities of the Automobile division 5,552 3,236 8,788 5,159 3,715 8,874

Redeemable shares (DIAC) 19 - 19 19 - 19

Bonds - 3,469 3,469 - 2,989 2,989

Other debts represented by a certificate 253 13,398 13,651 252 13,581 13,833

Borrowings from credit institutions - 4,255 4,255 - 4,401 4,401

Other interest-bearing borrowings - 144 144 - 124 124

Derivative liabilities on financing operations - 128 128 - 117 117

Total financial liabilities and sales financing debts 
of the Sales financing division 272 21,394 21,666 271 21,212 21,483

TOTAL FInAnCIAL LIABILITIES  
AnD SALES FInAnCInG DEBTS 5,824 24,630 30,454 5,430 24,927 30,357

Redeemable shares of Renault SA

These shares are listed on the Paris Stock Exchange, 
and traded for €940 at December ��, 2006 and €�,080 

at June �0, 2007 for par value of €�5�, leading to a 
corresponding €�04 million adjustment to the fair value 
of redeemable shares recorded in other financial income 
and expenses (note 7).
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IV - CASH FLOWS AND OTHER INFORMATION 

18 - Cash flows

A. Other unrealised income and expenses

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Net allocation to provisions (77) (87) (256)

Net effects of sales financing credit losses 11 4 14

Net gain (loss) on asset disposals (28) (97) (188)

Change in fair value of redeemable shares (Renault SA and DIAC) 104 (1) 34

Change in fair value of other financial instruments 13 (6) 40

Deferred taxes (93) (34) (86)

Other 32 (15) 12

Other unrealised income and expenses (38) (236) (430)

B. Change in working capital

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Decrease (increase) in net inventories (585) (252) 656

Decrease (increase) in Automobile receivables (567) (329) 51

Decrease (increase) in other assets (256) 27 190

Increase (decrease) in trade payables 1,131 560 (522)

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 699 709 (61)

Decrease (increase) in working capital 422 715 314

C. Capital expenditure

€ million H1 2007 H1 2006 Year 2006

Purchases of intangible assets (698) (565) (1,132)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,365) (1,514) (3,577)

Total purchases for the period (2,063) (2,079) (4,709)

Deferred payments (221) (204) 65

Total capital expenditure (2,284) (2,283) (4,644)

19 -  Off-balance sheet commitments  
and contingent liabilities

Renault enters into a certain number of commitments 
in the course of its business. When these commitments 
qualify as liabilities, they are covered by provisions (e.g. 

retirement and other personnel benefits, litigations, 
etc.).

Details of off-balance sheet commitments and 
contingencies are provided below.

€ million June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006

Other guarantees given 524 540

Opening of confirmed credit lines for customers 2,090 1,784

Firm investment orders 973 656

Lease commitments 370 404

Assets pledged or mortgaged 185 199



49

Earnings Report - Renault 2007

Chapter 2Financial statements
20 - Related parties

A. Renault’s investment in Nissan

Details of Renault’s investment in Nissan are provided 
in note ��.

B. Renault’s investment in AB Volvo

Details of Renault’s investment in AB Volvo are provided 
in note �2.

21 - Subsequent events

No significant event has occurred subsequent to 
June �0, 2007.
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�85, avenue Charles-de-Gaulle, B.P. �6
92524 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

S.A. au capital de € � 72� 040

Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la compagnie

régionale de Versailles

ERnST & YOUnG Audit
Faubourg de l’Arche
��, allée de l’Arche

920�7 Paris-La Défense Cedex
S.A.S. à capital variable

Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la compagnie

régionale de Versailles

Renault
Period from January 1 to June 30, 2007

Statutory Auditors’ review report on the first half-year financial information for 2007

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ review report issued in French language and is provided solely for the 
convenience of English-speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with French law 
and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the Shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors and in accordance with the requirements of Article L. 2�2-7 of French 
Commercial Law (Code de commerce), we hereby report to you on:

•  the review of the accompanying condensed half-year consolidated financial statements of Renault, for the period 
from January � to June �0, 2007,

• the verification of information contained in the half-year management report.

These condensed half-year consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our role 
is to express a conclusion on these financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. A review of interim financial 
information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and 
applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted 
in accordance with professional standards applicable in France and consequently does not enable us to obtain 
assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, 
we do not express an audit opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying condensed 
half-year consolidated financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS �4 - 
standard of the IFRSs as adopted by the European Union applicable to interim financial information.

Without qualifying the conclusion expressed above, we draw your attention to note 2 which sets out changes in 
accounting methods introduced during the first half-year.

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the information given in the half-
year financial report commenting the condensed half-year consolidated financial statements subject to our review.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the condensed half-year consolidated 
financial statements.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris La Défense, July 25, 2007

The Statutory Auditors

French original signed by 

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES ERnST & YOUnG Audit

Amadou Raimi Pascale Chastaing-Doblin Daniel Mary-Dauphin Aymeric de la Morandière
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The purpose of the financial data in this section 
is twofold: to broadly quantify the economic 
significance of the Renault-Nissan Alliance through 
key performance indicators, and to make it easier to 
compare the assets and liabilities of the two Groups. 
The data of both Groups comply with the accounting 
standards applied by Renault in 2007.

The characteristics of the Alliance mean, among 
other things, that Renault and Nissan’s assets and 
liabilities cannot be combined. Consequently, these 
data do not correspond to a consolidation as defined 
by generally accepted accounting principles and are 
not certified by the statutory auditors.

The information concerning Renault is based on 
the consolidated figures released at June �0, 2007, 
while the information concerning Nissan is based 
on the restated consolidated figures prepared for 
the purposes of the Renault consolidation, covering 
the period from January � to June �0, 2007 whereas 
Nissan’s financial year-end is March ��. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The preparation of the key performance indicators 
under Renault accounting policies takes into account 
the following differences from the figures published by 
Nissan under Japanese accounting standards: 

•  revenues are presented net of discounts and rebates, 
and do not include sales to subcontractors or sales 
of spare parts for warranty operations;

•  sales with buy-back commitments have been 
restated as leases;

•  reclassifications have been made when necessary 
to harmonise the presentation of the main income 
statement items;

•  restatements for harmonisation of accounting 
standards and adjustments to fair value applied 
by Renault for acquisitions of �999 and 2002 are 
included.

revenueS firSt hAlf 2007

€ million Renault Nissan(1)
Intercompany 

eliminations Alliance

Sales of 
goods and 
services 19,833 33,976 (1,387) 52,422

Sales 
financing 
revenues 729 2,472 - 3,201

Revenues 20,562 36,448 (1,387) 55,623

(1)  Converted at the average exchange rate for first half 2007:  
EUR 1 = JPY 159.6

The Alliance’s intercompany business mainly consists 
of commercial dealings between Renault and Nissan. 
These items have been eliminated to produce the 
revenue indicator. Their value is estimated on the basis 
of Renault’s first half 2007 results. 

The operating margin, the operating income and 
the net income of the Alliance for first half 2007 are 
as follows:

€ million
Operating  

margin
Operating 

income
Net 

income (2)

Renault 722 689 702

Nissan (1) 2,321 2,080 1,432

Alliance 3,043 2,769 2,134

(1)  Converted at the average exchange rate for first half 2007 :  
EUR 1 = JPY 159.6

(2)  Renault’s net income is adjusted to exclude Nissan’s contribution 
and Nissan’s net income is similarly adjusted to exclude Renault’s 
contribution.

Intercompany transactions impacting the indicators 
are minor and have therefore not been eliminated.

For the Alliance, the operating margin is equivalent to 
5.5% of revenues. 

In first half 2007, the Alliance’s research and 
development expenses, after capitalisation and 
amortisation, are as follows:

€ million

Renault 907

Nissan 1,129

Alliance 2,036
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BALANCE SHEET INDICATORS

COnDEnSED REnAULT AnD nISSAn BALAnCE ShEETS

renAult At June 30, 2007

ASSETS - € million ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY AnD LIAbILITIES - € million

Intangible assets 3,745 Shareholders’ equity 21,704
Property, plant and equipment 12,898 Deferred tax liabilities 181 
Investments in associates  
(excluding Alliance) 1,987

Provisions for pension and other long-term 
employee benefit obligations 1,107

Deferred tax assets 230 Financial liabilities of the Automobile division 8,788
Inventories 5,775 Financial liabilities of the Sales financing
Sales financing receivables 20,200 division and sales financing debts 21,666
Automobile receivables 2,467 Other liabilities 17,226
Other assets 5,876
Cash and cash equivalents 6,518

Total assets excluding investment in nissan 59,696
Investment in Nissan 10,976

TOTAL ASSETS 70,672
TOTAL ShAREhOLDERS’ EqUITy  
AnD LIABILITIES 70,672

niSSAn At June 30, 2007 (1)

ASSETS - € million ShAREhOLDERS’ EQUITY AnD LIAbILITIES - € million

Intangible assets 4,359 Shareholders’ equity 27,378
Property, plant and equipment 32,377 Deferred tax liabilities 2,041
Investments in associates  
(excluding Alliance) 118

Provisions for pension and other long-term 
employee benefit obligations 1,585

Deferred tax assets 6 Financial liabilities of the Automobile division 3,153
Inventories 6,911 Financial liabilities of the Sales financing
Sales financing receivables 22,437 division and sales financing debts 30,136
Automobile receivables 4,243 Other liabilities 16,357
Other assets 5,895
Cash and cash equivalents 2,529

Total assets excluding investment in Renault 78,875

Investment in Renault 1,775

TOTAL ASSETS 80,650
TOTAL ShAREhOLDERS’ EqUITy  
AnD LIABILITIES 80,650

(1) Converted at the closing rate for first half 2007: EUR 1 = JPY 166.6

The values shown for Nissan assets and liabilities 
reflect restatements for harmonisation of accounting 
standards and adjustments to fair value applied by 
Renault for acquisitions made in �999 and 2002, 
mainly concerning revaluation of land and other 
tangible fixed assets, capitalisation of development 
expenses, and pension-related provisions.

Balance sheet items have been reclassified where 
necessary to make the data consistent across both 
Groups. 

Nissan’s restated balance sheet includes the 
securitised items presented off-balance sheet in 
Nissan’s financial statements under Japanese GAAP. 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment by 
both Alliance groups for first half 2007, excluding leased 
vehicles, amount to:

€ million

Renault 1,038

Nissan 1,811

Alliance 2,849

Based on the best available information, Renault 
estimates that the impact of full consolidation of Nissan 
on its shareholders’ equity calculated under current 
accounting policies would result in : 

•  a maximum 5-�0% decrease in shareholders’ equity - 
Group share;

•  €�6 billion increase in shareholders’ equity - minority 
interests’ share.





Renault
13-15, quai le Gallo

92513 Boulogne Billancourt
France

Tel: 33 (0)1 76 84 53 09
email: investor.relations@renault.com

http://www.renault.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

P
ho

to
s:

 D
om

in
iq

ue
 P

al
om

bo
 / 

R
ea

lis
at

io
n:

 M
ed

ia
ge

ra
nc

e


